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research
that delivers
→ Better cultivars faster™
→ Residue-free pest and disease control
→ More sustainable and profitable systems
→ Proprietary foods with price premiums
→ Secure, sustainable seafood production
→ Premium seafood and marine-based products
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2012 Highlights

→→ Supporting the kiwifruit industry in its ongoing fight against the
bacterial disease Psa. Recent progress has included sequencing
of the Psa genome, the development of a new DNA-based test for
the virulent Psa-V bacteria and the assessment of the kiwifruit
breeding population for resistance to the bacteria. A new cultivar,
Gold3, has also been released to growers, offering increased
tolerance to Psa compared with the existing ‘Hort16A’ cultivar.
→→ Establishing a new research portfolio for Seafood
Technologies. This new Portfolio recognises the key role of
research and innovation in supporting growth of this important
sector in New Zealand’s primary production and food-based
industry. A new General Manager of Science has been appointed
to oversee the Portfolio.
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→→ Expanding our international research collaborations in
the bioprotection area by joining the new Australian Plant
Biosecurity Cooperative Research Centre. The Centre will
undertake collaborative research to assist in protection from
and minimising damage from new pest incursions across the
Pacific region. It is funded through the Australian Department of
Industry, Innovation, Science, Research and Tertiary Education
until 2018.
→→ Delivering high impact science to support the New Zealand
avocado industry in maintaining market access. Scientific
assistance from our bioprotection scientists provided evidence
that reopened borders to the US within five days of a potential
biosecurity issue.

→→ Establishing a new strategic investment process to allocate
Core Funding and other internal investment. Informed by our
relationships with key sectors identified in our Statement of
Core Purpose, this process optimises our research portfolio for
impact and delivery.

→→ Releasing two new cultivars to the New Zealand hop industry.
The new aroma-type cultivars, ‘Wai-iti’ and ‘Kohatu’, have
shown good potential in brewing trials to impart unique
flavours and aromas to beer. Both cultivars have now been
released to growers for commercial production.

→→ Supporting New Zealand’s food innovation sector by launching
the foodcomposition.co.nz website. This resource allows health
professionals, food companies and related organisations to
access nutrient data for common foods from the New Zealand
Food Composition Database.

→→ Partnering with other Crown Research Institutes AgResearch,
Landcare Research and Scion, to create a Sustainable Land Use
Alliance. The Alliance will ensure better coordinated delivery of
research to stakeholders and improved support for their decision
making around investment strategy, resource allocation and
capability management.

→→ Supporting the development of two new functional food
products containing New Zealand blackcurrants. The
development of these products, a new health drink launched
in Japan and a vision support beverage now available in the
UK, was supported by research undertaken by Plant & Food
Research into the effects of New Zealand blackcurrant extract in
sports performance and recovery.
→→ Expanding our established relationship with Luisetti Seeds
to develop new high yield wheat cultivars with good milling
quality and dough properties as well as new wheat and barley
cultivars for animal feed. The new cultivars will support the
arable food sector in delivering products that meet both industry
and consumer demands.
→→ Publishing important new work that demonstrates the benefits
of broccoli and blueberries for improving gut health and the
potential for blueberries in speeding up muscle recovery after
exercise. Completed by researchers in our Food Innovation
Portfolio, this work aims to add value to whole fruits and
vegetables and lead development of potential new high-value
functional ingredients and manufactured foods.

→→ Signing a new agreement with Massey University to provide
funding and resources to support three postgraduate students
undertaking research into ornamental crops. This research
will contribute to the understanding of important traits for the
breeding of new varieties of ornamental plants and flowers.
→→ Commercialising a new technology that supports pipfruit
growers’ management of key insect pests. The ISOMATE®
4Play is a single pheromone dispenser capable of disrupting
mating of codling moth and three species of leafroller.
Commercialised through Etec Crop Solutions Ltd, the dispenser
supports pipfruit industry targets for residue-free pest control.
→→ Joining forces with other CRIs and Universities to form the
Kiwi Innovation Network (KiwiNet), a new, government-funded
body aimed at increasing the scale and economic impact of
science and technology commercialisation in New Zealand.
KiwiNet will act as a hub for commercialisation activities for
its member organisations, as well as participants in the wider
innovation system, as they work to create commercial outcomes
from science and technology research.

→→ Identifying the gene that controls vitamin C in plants, providing
information to develop molecular markers for vitamin C for
Plant & Food Research’s breeding programmes. This discovery
will accelerate development of new edible plant cultivars
containing naturally high concentrations of this vital nutrient.
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Chairman’s commentary
We are pleased to present in this report both an improved financial
result and a range of impact case studies that articulate the value of
our science and the competitive advantage it is creating for our core
purpose industries.

Plant & Food Research has had a strong year. In its first full year
of operations since the introduction of changes heralded by the
CRI Taskforce report, the Institute has initiated a number of new
strategies and operational initiatives while continuing to deliver highimpact science from a sound and sustainable commercial platform.

Financial Performance
In a difficult operating environment this year, Plant & Food Research
has exceeded both its revenue and profit budget targets. Total
revenue was 7% better than budget and last year; this result
includes an accounting adjustment related to the treatment of Core
Funding revenues for the first time. Excluding this adjustment,
total revenues were 4% better than budget and last year. The most
significant contributor to the increased revenues was commercial
revenues from royalty sources. Net profit after tax of $1.3 million
was $1.2 million better than budget, reflecting improved revenue
and a focus on cost control.

A commitment to impact-led reporting
Our 2011 Statement of Corporate Intent committed Plant & Food
Research to a portfolio management approach for our research to
optimise the allocation of our resources and maximise our impact.
We also committed to work even more closely with our clients and
end-users to measure our Institute’s performance in delivering
knowledge, products and services. The impact case studies in this
report represent a selection of high-level results from that effort.
To share this impact reporting more widely with industry and the
public, we have created a new online portal that allows stakeholders
to gain a greater insight into our work, our partnerships and the
outcomes to which we contribute. This portal can be viewed at
www.plantandfood.co.nz/growingfutures.

Our Strategy Scorecard
To ensure our Institute’s delivery keeps pace with the needs of
our partner industries and end-users, and that our business
remains commercially viable in its own right, the Board and Senior
Management Team this year engaged in a full strategy refresh. This
exercise placed significant emphasis on how Plant & Food Research
can meaningfully accelerate its science delivery and amplify the
resulting impact for clients, stakeholders and New Zealand.
To inform this strategy we consulted closely with key sectors,
seeking renewed insight into the research outcomes they ranked
most highly as key to their success. We looked hard at the elements
of our operational capability and delivery that clients told us were
most valuable to them. We also reached beyond our immediate
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environment to our wider knowledge of key trends in science,
commerce, market and consumer perspectives that are shaping the
future for New Zealand’s primary sector.
The results of this work are presented in the Mission Scorecard
printed inside the front cover of this report. The scorecard is now
a key document in our business alongside our Statement of Core
Purpose and Statement of Corporate Intent. For our staff the
scorecard demonstrates the relationship between our science,
commercial success for stakeholders and the realisation of a
prosperous and sustainable economy. For stakeholders and
customers it spells out succinctly our commitment to partnership,
impactful science and a willingness to set goals and be measured
on their achievement.

Measuring success
Success will be measured in a number of ways, from the
sustainability of our business through to the quality and impact of our
science outcomes. This year we established an important benchmark
through participation in an MBIE-initiated independent survey of
key client and research collaborator perceptions of Plant & Food
Research. The initial high-level results of this survey are contained in
this report. They show good levels of end-user uptake of our science
and client confidence in our overall effectiveness and ability to bring
together research teams that deliver the right results.
This is testament to the dedication and commitment of all those who
work in our Institute. The impact case studies included in this report
and the robust operating result achieved this year demonstrate how
impact can be built and sustained through attention to high quality
science, proactive partnerships and a solid focus on commercial
fundamentals.
I’d like to recognise all those who play a part in our success – my
fellow Board members, CEO Peter Landon-Lane and his Senior
Management Team, and our scientists and support staff. All can be
proud of their contribution to achieving our mission: a sustainable
business, delivering science that maximises opportunities to enhance
New Zealand’s economic, environmental and social prosperity.
Nga mihi

Michael Ahie
Chairman

CEO Review
This Year Plant & Food Research has had a strong focus on operational
performance and on delivering the outcomes specified in our statement
of core purpose. We have refreshed our strategy, established new
processes to invest core funding for maximum impact, and evolved
our operational structure and impact goals to strengthen our value
proposition for our sector clients and other stakeholders.

Our refreshed strategy is driven by the core measures of our
success – for the shareholder, for customers and for our Institute.
Demonstrable economic outcomes, commercial acumen and high
quality investment decisions are key themes in our strategy and
these have informed our approach to the investment of Core and
other funding, with the overall aim of maximising the beneficial
impact of our science.

Investing strategically to create benefit for
New Zealand
Our enhanced investment process has this year invested $43 million
of Core Funding as well as a substantial proportion of our royalty
income. This investment has been made in two key streams Sector-Aligned Research, which directly supports the identified
growth and sustainability goals of the sectors and industries defined
in our Statement of Core Purpose; and Future Science programmes,
where innovative new science is developed prior to application
against various sector goals. Our science strategy is the framework
for all these investments. The strategy focuses on key portfolios
of research in defined outcome areas. This year we initiated a
dedicated portfolio for Seafood Innovation, which had previously
been covered within our established research portfolios of
Breeding & Genomics, Sustainable Production, Food Innovation and
Bioprotection. Developed to deliver specific outcomes in premium
seafood and marine-based products, as well as secure, sustainable
seafood production, this portfolio highlights our commitment to
industries in New Zealand’s $1.5 billion seafood sector.

Beating Psa with new science, products and
technologies
Plant & Food Research’s Statement of Core Purpose commits our
Institute to a broad range of stakeholder industries and national
science capabilities. Within this context there will always arise
challenges of national significance that demand an especially
focused and well-resourced response. The damage caused by the
arrival of the bacterium Pseudomonas syringae pv. actinidiae (Psa)
in New Zealand’s kiwifruit orchards is just such a challenge. Plant
& Food Research is the lead science provider to the kiwifruit sector
and we have this year invested over $5 million alongside the industry
investment in Psa-related research. The long-term solution to Psa

lies in a combination of new Psa-tolerant or resistant cultivars and
revised orchard management techniques and technologies. This
year hundreds of kiwifruit orchards have converted to the new, more
Psa-tolerant Gold3 cultivar. An output of the joint ZESPRI® and Plant
& Food Research kiwifruit breeding programme, which is supported
by strong MBIE (formerly MSI) investment, Gold3 is the result of
an unprecedented degree of sustained cooperation and investment
between research, industry and Government.
Beating Psa is a long-term challenge that will require ongoing
commitment from all involved. Within Plant & Food Research the
lion’s share of this task sits firmly on the shoulders of research
staff who are determined to deliver the best possible outcomes for
industry. I offer my personal thanks and ongoing encouragement
to the dedicated staff in our laboratories and orchards who have
contributed so much to the Psa response so far and on whom we
will continue to call on in the months ahead.

Ready for the challenges ahead
The further development of our Institute’s strategy and research
priorities, together with ongoing emphasis on operational
efficiencies, has ensured Plant & Food Research remains well
equipped to fulfil its Core Purpose responsibilities. The focus on
maximising impact during a period of demanding trading conditions
has required that we take some difficult decisions, including recent
redundancies. I would like to recognise the professionalism and care
with which all those involved handled this.
The above budget financial result for 2011/12 was a solid
achievement and has put us in a good position to take on the
challenges ahead. I would like to thank the Board and all staff
at Plant & Food Research for the many ways in which they have
contributed over the past year.

PETER LANDON-LANE
Chief executive officer
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Our research strategy
Better cultivars
faster™

Residue-free pest and
disease control

Sustainable and profitable
production systems

New cultivars with identified
consumer and producer traits

New tools and systems for
biologically based pest and
disease control

Whole systems modelling and
prediction technologies

Identified molecular mechanisms
controlling key traits
Breeding programmes using
integrated genomics tools

New disinfestation technologies
Improved biosecurity risk
assessment, detection and
response
New cultivars with intrinsic
resistance to pests and diseases
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Improved production, pre- and
postharvest technologies
New tools for ecoverification,
footprinting and traceability
New cultivars designed for future
environmental conditions

Science across
the value chain
Proprietary, premium foods
and beverages

Secure, sustainable
seafood production

Premium seafood and
marine-based products

New cultivars with functional
wellness benefits

New production systems to
enhance wild fisheries and
aquaculture

Improved harvest and postharvest
technologies to enhance live,
chilled and frozen seafood
products

New ingredients from proprietary
cultivars developed for specific
wellness activity
New food and beverage concepts
based on proprietary cultivars

New technologies for selective
harvest

New processing and preservation
technologies to extend shelf-life,
quality and food safety
New technologies to produce
novel high value marine-based
products
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Impact innovations
→	Better cultivars faster™
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Breeding for Psa
resistance

New flavours for
brewers

Cereal crops for
New Zealand conditions

Kiwifruit is a New Zealand icon and the
industry exports around $1 billion of
produce every year. In 2010, the bacterial
disease Psa (Pseudomonas syringae pv.
actinidiae) was discovered in New Zealand.
The long-term sustainability of the kiwifruit
industry requires a combination of refined
orchard management practices and new
cultivars with improved resistance to the
disease. An increased number of seedlings
are now being screened each year for key
commercial traits, including Psa resistance,
and genomics research is being undertaken
to identify the molecular mechanisms
for the trait, to allow for faster screening
of parents and offspring. Screening of
cultivars already in late stage commercial
trials has identified a new cultivar, Gold3,
as having a higher tolerance to Psa than the
existing ‘Hort16A’ (ZESPRI®GOLD Kiwifruit)
cultivar. Subsequently, this cultivar has
been fast tracked through commercial
launch, with over 2,000 hectares released
to growers, bringing total plantings to 2,524
hectares.

The craft and specialty brewing market
captures around 5% of the $500 billion
brewing market, and continues to grow
at approximately 20% per annum. Craft
brewers focus on new hops that deliver
novel flavour and aroma characteristics,
and suppliers can demand a premium for
specialty aroma hops. The hop breeding
programme delivers new cultivars
specifically tailored to New Zealand’s
environmental conditions, and has released
six new hops cultivars since 2000. One of
the most successful is ‘Nelson Sauvin’, a
hop with grapey and nutty flavours, which
was released in 2000. Around 100 tonnes
of ‘Nelson Sauvin’ are now produced each
year generating $2 million for growers.
Two new cultivars, ‘Kohatu’ and ‘Wai-iti’,
were released in 2011 and are expected to
contribute to a doubling of New Zealand’s
speciality hop production by 2016.

Cereals are the world’s most important
food sources, both for human consumption
and as feeds for livestock. Grain cereals
are a fundamental component of the arable
cropping rotation system in New Zealand. An
increasing volume of locally bred cultivars
are sown, as imported varieties tend to
have a lower tolerance to domestic pest and
disease pressures and are not always well
suited for industry needs. The cereal breeding
programme, in association with Luisetti Seeds
Ltd, is delivering new cereal grain cultivars
with improved agronomic performance –
including pest and disease resistance and
high yields – and characteristics that meet
both industry and consumer demands.

New cultivars delivered by the
programme now account for
about 45% of the New Zealand
cereal grains market, generating
around $56 million from seed
sales and harvested grains, and
include milling wheat and feed
wheat and barley varieties.

www.plantandfood.co.nz/growingfutures

→ Proprietary, premium foods
and beverages

Delivering superior
apples to overseas
consumers

Adding value to hoki

Discovering the
natural goodness in
blackcurrants

Ensuring consumers consistently have
a superior eating experience maintains
the premium for New Zealand apples
in overseas markets. Dry matter
concentration has been identified as
an important indicator of consumer
preference for fruit and research has
been undertaken to identify how best to
deliver apples with high dry matter to
market. Orchard management guidelines
have been developed outlining the optimal
combinations of cultivar type, soil and
rootstock for high dry matter at harvest
and storage protocols for individual
cultivars have been investigated to
maximise dry matter.

There is growing global interest in the
use of industrial polymers based on
biological extracts. Biopolymers are less
reliant on non-renewable resources than
synthetic fibres, and offer key properties of
importance to a wide range of industries.
Investigations into the properties and
potential of by-products from the seafood
industry have led to the development of
new biomaterials for use in New Zealand
products. Methods for extracting and
processing collagen from hoki skins are
now being used to develop nanofibre filters
for home air filtration units, and sales
of this product are growing at 30% each
quarter. The research has also led to the
development of specialised equipment
for the manufacture of nanofibres by
electrospinning. Since 2007, eighteen
machines based on this technology have
been sold globally.

Fruits and vegetables have a natural health
halo and varieties with higher concentrations
of the compounds known to be good for
health attract a premium in key markets,
both as functional whole foods or as
ingredients in processed functional foods.
Research is being conducted to support
the marketing of new food products with
scientifically validated health claims. Clinical
studies have demonstrated that taking New
Zealand blackcurrant extract before exercise
offers benefits for sports performance by
modulating muscle stress, damage and
inflammation. A number of food companies
in Japan, one of the most mature functional
food markets, have shown interest in using
New Zealand blackcurrants in functional
products and using the clinical data to
support the marketing of these products.
One of these, Phiten Co. Ltd, has launched
a new drink product in Japan that contains
New Zealand blackcurrant concentrate. The
product retails for 273¥ ($4.30) for a 100 ml
serving that contains 5000 mg of New
Zealand-grown blackcurrant extract.

Upwards of 55% of the new
zealand apple crop is now
managed using dry matter
concentration as a quality trait
to control product integrity in
the supply chain, and importer
product rejections due to quality
have been significantly reduced.
Dry matter concentration has also been
added as a key trait for new cultivars
under development in the pipfruit
breeding programme.

9

Impact innovations continued
→	Sustainable and profitable
production systems

Feed alternatives
for dairy herds

Thinning the vines

Maximising
rock lobster harvest

The Taranaki region is home to 11% of the
New Zealand dairy herd. The productivity
of dairy cows is directly related to the
quality and availability of feed. Traditionally,
dairy herds in the region have relied on
pasture for their feed, supplemented by
importing other feeds when required.
Pastures in Taranaki tend to be older and
less productive than in other dairying
regions in New Zealand, where pastures are
often renewed after short-term crops like
maize and turnips. By integrating longer
sequences of high yielding crops of cereal,
maize and brassicas bred specifically
for the New Zealand environment, this
research aims to help Taranaki farmers
more than double the nutrient value of their
paddocks. Systems that support growers’
decision making ensure that crops are
rotated to maximise productivity and also
optimise use of specific crops able to take
up excess nutrients produced by dairying,
an important environmental benefit.

Managing grape volume is a key factor in
the profitability of the wine industry, as
excessive volumes of wine can reduce the
premium the industry can command in the
marketplace. Statistical models have been
developed that determine future potential
productivity; machine thinning can then be
used to manage vines to control the grape
volume at harvest.

Maintaining the quality of seafood from
harvest to market is vital in ensuring
consumer satisfaction. Rock lobster is the
highest value export species for the New
Zealand seafood industry, generating $221
million of export revenue. New Zealand
rock lobsters are exported live, and their
strong red colouration, size and shape are
highly valued in the Asian markets. New
guidelines provide the seafood industry
with the best methods to catch, hold and
transport rock lobsters to reduce the
animals’ stress during the supply chain,
maintaining quality and minimising loss.
Mortality claims by importers have more
than halved and prices for New Zealand
rock lobster have increased from $55,757
per ton in 2000 to $83,018 per ton in 2011.

Analysis has shown that if
20% of Taranaki farmers adopt
these systems by 2015, $16 million
would be added to the gross
annual income of these farmers
and the region.
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As well as reducing the costs of
thinning fruit by 60%, compared
with hand thinning, machine
thinning has also been shown
to reduce the levels of Botrytis
disease found in the vineyard.
Research has shown that existing
mechanical harvesters can be adapted for
this task. Reducing botrytis controls by
even one spray application can save the
industry up to $5.5 million per annum,
while also reducing the chemical residue
on grapes and preventing build up of
fungicide resistance.

www.plantandfood.co.nz/growingfutures

→ residue-free pest and disease
control

Residue-free apples
for export

Maintaining access
to the USA

Controlling pests
with sex

New Zealand exports around $360 million of
apples each year, the majority to European
and Asian markets. The Apple Futures
programme allows the New Zealand
pipfruit industry to balance the biosecurity
requirements of export markets with the
demands of regulators, supermarkets and
consumers for minimal use of chemical
pesticides on fruit. The programme uses
an integrated toolkit of strategies for
monitoring insect pests, predicting disease
risk based on meteorological data, ensuring
the health of beneficial insect populations
and targeting the spraying of selective
pesticides only when justified.

An increasing volume of New Zealand’s
$45 million of avocado exports are
expected to go to markets outside
Australia, currently the largest customer.
In October 2011, a consignment of
avocados destined for the US market was
held because of suspected contamination
of a fungal pathogen that causes avocado
scab. Working with the Ministry for Primary
Industries, scientists supplied molecular
diagnostic advice to allow the pathogen
to be accurately identified. It was found
to be a non-actionable fungal pest and
the border was opened within five days,
allowing the avocados to be sold in the
USA and maintaining access to this and
other markets.

Effective control of pests and diseases costs
the pipfruit industry around $23 million each
year but preserves market access for $360
million of apple exports. Sex pheromones,
the chemicals released by animals to attract
mates, can be used to confuse insect pests,
reducing their ability to identify mates and
subsequently leading to a reduction in the
population. Scientists have developed a
blend of synthetic pheromones for four
significant apple pests – codling moth, light
brown apple moth, brownheaded leafroller
and greenheaded leafroller – that can be
used in a single combined dispenser in
orchards, marketed by Etec Crop Solutions
Ltd as ISOMATE® 4Play.

Since its introduction in 2007,
the Apple Futures programme
is estimated to have preserved
up to $113 million of the pipfruit
industry’s export revenue, with a
research cost of only $3.2 million.

mating disruption technology
is now used on around 2,000
hectares of New Zealand’s
orchards and means growers
can reduce use of pesticides
for controlling these pests
by at least one to two spray
applications each year,
supporting the industry’s
targets to reduce pesticide use
and residues on fruit.
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Core funding allocation
and activities
Priority area

SCP
outcome area

Sector &
industry alignment

2011/2012 targets

Kiwifruit

→→ New genomic and breeding tools

$43.2M
total

$ value (millions)
excl. gst 2011/2012

Biological Industries
Better cultivars
faster™

1

Pipfruit
Ornamentals
Potato
Other vegetables

delivering new and novel cultivars

→→ Tailored cultivars for specific production

systems, environmental variability and
change

→→ Genome sequencing and deep

sequencing of germplasm characterising
allelic differences to provide numerous
ecotypes for both NZ and global
environments

Residue-free pest
and disease control

2

Kiwifruit
Pipfruit
Winegrapes
Arable
Vegetables
Pan-sector
biosecurity

Sustainable
and profitable
production systems

3

Kiwifruit
Pipfruit
Winegrape
Avocado
Arable
Forage
Vegetable
Seafood
Pan-sector
environmental

12

13.4M

0.3% sub-contracted
→→ HortNZ

→→ New tools and systems for biologically

based pest and disease control

→→ New cultivars stacked with targeted pest

and disease resistance

6.7M

→→ New ‘safe’ disinfestation technologies
→→ Improved biosecurity risk assessments,

detection technologies, optimised
surveillance approaches and new tools
for response and eradication

5.5% sub-contracted
→→ Lincoln University
→→ AgResearch
→→ Landcare
→→ Biodiscovery NZ Ltd
→→ Linneaus University

→→ Whole systems modelling and prediction

platforms

→→ Improved production technologies and

cultivars based on scaled up knowledge
from molecular, physiological, soil, water
and environmental science, integrated
with system science

6.1M

10.8% sub-contracted
→→ Lincoln University
→→ AgResearch

Core funding contributes to all three of the outcomes listed in our Statement of Core Purpose:

Our strategy for allocating core funding
involves a portfolio approach that gives
consideration to the collective outputs and
impacts that result from a suite of investment
mechanisms, including Future Science, Core,
Contestible and Commercial revenue.

1

Increase the value of the horticultural, arable, seafood, and food and beverage
sectors to the New Zealand economy through the development of high value
products and processes that meet current and future global market needs

2

Protect and enhance market access in New Zealand’s horticultural
and arable sectors

3

Sustain growth in these industry sectors, driving ongoing efficiency gains
with the development of environmentally resilient production systems

2011/12 achievement highlights
Primary industry productivity and sustainability
→→ New “fast-breeding” tools evaluated in several

crops for application within applied breeding
programmes, including rapid screening assays
for key health attributes, the application of
interspecific hybridisation and polyploidy
technologies, the use of two DNA-based
technologies to select for high eating quality

→→ Development and application of the first model

of phloem transport in a complex multi source–
multi sink system, a new non-destructive
method for measuring in vivo movement of
14
C photosynthate in whole plants, and the
integration into L-Kiwi, the first functionalstructural vine model integrating architecture,
carbon dynamics and effects of the environment

→→ Low cost, in vitro technology for the vegetative

propagation of plants developed, amenable to
automation and producing very large numbers
of clonal propagules in limited space, allowing
production cost savings of up to 60% over
current in vitro tissue culture technologies

→→ A new specific quantitative PCR-based

haplotyping system for identification of the
virulent isolate of Pseudomonas syringae pv.
actinidiae developed. This used the whole
genome DNA sequence of different isolates
of Psa

→→ Next generation sequencing approaches

for detecting bacterial infection developed
and applied to plant samples, including
Liberibacter-infected tomato and Psa-infected
kiwifruit material. Materials and results
shared with MPI

→→ Results of forage brassica trials on water

use and drought responses incorporated into
a forage brassica crop model within APSIM
for use by the science community. Results
on nitrogen management in forage brassica
crops incorporated into a planning tool used
by Ballance Agri-Nutrients Limited to assist
farmers with nutrient management planning

→→ Better understanding of the role of soil organic

matter (SOM) and its effect on the availability
of mineralisable nitrogen to crops, resulting
in a new paradigm explaining the regulation
of SOM and nitrogen availability in soils. Three
significant papers published

→→ Laboratory studies determined likely

insecticide resistance in Tomato Potato Psyllid/
Liberibacter (TPP/Lso) to imidacloprid and
pyrethroids, with imidacloprid resistance
thought to have developed in NZ since the
incursion. Results guide the development of
resistance management protocols for industry

→→ Pest and disease resistance breeding, particularly

for the relatively new incursions of Pseudomonas
syringae pv. actinidiae (Psa) in kiwifruit and for
Tomato Potato Psyllid/Liberibacter (TPP/Lso)
in potatoes as well as for fungal infections of
cereals and pipfruit

→→ The first plantings by NZ growers of several

non-commodity pipfruit cultivars developed in
the Pipfruit Research Consortium, generating
in excess of $1M in exports during 2011/12 from
the early season Smitten® brand PremA17 apple
cultivar, a relatively small, sweet, red-coloured
Rockit® brand PremA96 apple cultivar, and the
interspecific pear PremP109

→→ Germplasm introduced, conserved and

characterised across all crops, providing
additional genetic diversity for breeding, genetic
mining and new cultivar selection

→→ Publication of the potato genome sequence by

Total $26.2M

→→ New advanced materials provided to NZ

and international partners for commercial
evaluation, leading to cultivar releases for
ornamentals (the Sinzii Limonium series and
Gentians in Colombia and Chile), kiwifruit (3
new Psa-tolerant releases), potatoes (4 new
PVR applications underway), apples (4 elite
lines under final commercial evaluation in NZ
orchards), pears (2 elite red-skin lines), cereals
(3 new PVR applications) and potatoes (4 new
PVR applications)

→→ Potato breeding materials pipeline again sent

offshore for further selection following the
development of reliable diagnostic tests for
Liberibacter and Phytoplasma, “clean” materials
identified and initiated into tissue culture. A backlog of materials cleared, with over 30 lines being
sent out to 5 countries, and materials and import
permits being developed for at least another 5

the Potato Genome Sequencing Consortium, with
significant involvement of Plant & Food Research

→→ A standardised bioassay technique developed

to determine the tolerance of different types
of kiwifruit to infection by Psa. Results of the
bioassay are linked with field observations and
support the development of more Psa-resistant
varieties

→→ The efficacy of two alternative disinfestation

treatments to replace methyl bromide evaluated
on a wide range of pests. This has enabled
better targeting of concentrations and durations
of treatments in replicated trials using a new
Volatile Treatment Facility

→→ Fruit dry matter concentration (DMC) linked

to consumer preferences. Two NZ proprietary
apple cultivars controlled by ENZA now have a
mandatory minimum DMC standard imposed on
growers of apples for export

→→ New understanding of cell structure genes on

chromosome 16 involved in apple fruit texture
guides future breeding selections and informs
new physiological studies on texture qualities
during storage

→→ New technique for measuring phloem transport

of carbohydrate in kiwifruit without destructive
plant analysis, leading to a better understanding
of carbohydrate partitioning and effects of
root pruning on vine water relations and crop
productivity

→→ Crop water uptake and use in arable and pastoral

crops refined and incorporated into modelling
activities, contributing to the release of v2.0 of
Aquatrac to growers through the Foundation for
Arable Research

→→ A review conducted and developed improved

methods for rearing key pest species as a basis
for undertaking disinfestation trial work in the
future

→→ The Environmental Protection Authority approved

the release of a new biocontrol agent to help
control codling moth in NZ

→→ A new innovative type of pheromone dispenser

for mating disruption of 4 species of pest insects
affecting the pipfruit industry developed and
commercialised

→→ Machine thinning technologies developed that

reduce the costs of thinning fruit by 60% compared
with hand thinning, and have the potential to
reduce rate of botrytis disease

→→ Research on avocado alternate bearing focusing

on boron transport from leaves to flowers in spring
being adopted throughout NZ’s avocado-producing
regions. Significant involvement in forming the
Avocado Research Consortium with industry
groups from Australia, California, and Mexico,
leading to future co-operative research effort on
resolving alternate bearing

→→ New yield prediction model using weather

conditions during flowering helping viticulturalists
to better manage grape and wine volumes.
Widespread adoption of the model would result in
a 10-15% increase in the following season’s yield
potential of Sauvignon blanc in Marlborough. The
yield gain would equate to $100M in increased
export earnings from a single season
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Priority area

SCP
outcome area

Sector &
industry alignment

2011/2012 targets

Seafood

→→ New production systems, including wild

$ value (millions)
excl. gst 2011/2012

Biological Industries:
Sustainable
and profitable
production systems

1

fisheries enhancement and aquaculture

→→ New technologies for selective harvest
→→ New pre and postharvest technologies to

1.1M

support live seafood exports and higher
value chilled and frozen products

→→ New processing and preservation

technologies to support extended shelflife, product quality and food safety.

Proprietary foods
with premium prices

Winegrapes

1

→→ Distinctive NZ-centric wine styles for

high value markets

1.8M

57% sub-contracted
→→ University of Auckland
→→ Lincoln University

Environmental Research:
Sustainable
and profitable
production systems

Sustainable
land use

3

→→ Tools under development for eco-

verification, footprinting and traceability
(water, carbon, greenhouse gases, soil,
biodiversity, pesticides, social equity)

2.2M

56% sub-contracted
→→ AgResearch
→→ Landcare

Residue-free pest
and disease control

Biosecurity

3

→→ Improved biosecurity risk assessments,

detection technologies, optimised
surveillance approaches and new tools
for response and eradication

1.5M

7.1% sub-contracted
→→ Lincoln University

Other:
Science collections
and infrastructure

Capability
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→→ National collections of fruit and arable

1

1

crop germplasm maintained and made
accessible to collaborators

2

3

0.4M

→→ Innovative, over-the-horizon and high

risk research projects and associated
capability managed to create value for
NZ’s sectors and to support science
quality

10M

2011/12 achievement highlights
High value food and biological products and processes
→→ Understanding of finfish behaviour and

→→ Development of fin fish culture systems to

→→ Wine yeast (FrootZen) with a significant effect

→→ New technologies, including crushing and

physiology have underpinned the development of
new trawl prototypes that reduce by-catch and
enable rested harvest of fish. Rested harvest
enables live exports and the development of
premium products. New trawl prototypes are
currently being tested at sea by NZ seafood
companies

on flavour and wine style released to the
international industry in mid-2011 and now used
in Australia, South Africa, USA, Portugal, Spain,
France, Italy, Germany, UK, Greece, Romania and
Bulgaria

maintain a reference population of commercially
relevant fin fish species that supports industryfunded research programmes

Total $2.9M

→→ Non-thermal processing technologies have been

shown to modify the sensory properties of two
commercially harvested mollusc species

storage prior to pressing, developed for
harvesting and handling grapes to improve wine
styles

land and freshwater (including terrestrial ecosystems)

Total $3.7M

→→ Nitrogen applied as urine solubilises soil

→→ Research on soil conservation and ecosystem

→→ A survey of soil water repellency on affected

→→ Environmental impact of new biological control

→→ A new tool to assess host plant acceptance

→→ Research has confirmed that if the glassy-

carbon, resulting in mineralisation or leaching
and a loss of carbon to the soil system. This
insight is informing practices for growers that
will help meet NZ’s agricultural greenhouse gas
mitigation obligations

agents (BCAs) for an important insect pest
group (mealybug) assessed through field trials
and literature studies and used to help the
EPA assess the likely risks of new BCAs on the
environmental estate

→→ Effective tools for detecting fire ant nests in

multiple environments studied to help decision
makers such as MPI balance the sampling cost
and risk of failure for detecting fire ant colonies

services provided by soils, primarily when soil
organic matter interacts with soil structural
components, is informing policy development by
regional authorities when significant land use
change is proposed by commercial interests or
following natural dynamics such as erosion after
rainfall events

by invasive sap-feeding insects evaluated and
reported to MPI for use in future incursions

→→ Research to optimise the use of the Sterile

Insect Technique (SIT) for use in response and
eradication programmes has determined the
effect of irradiation dose on flight behaviour of
sterilised moths. This information will be used to
inform release strategies when using SIT

soils has described and quantified the reduction
in soil ecosystem services associated with poor
water infiltration

winged sharpshooter were to establish in NZ,
control by its key BCA would probably be the
most sustainable, long-term management
option and this BCA would not pose an
environmental threat in NZ

Total $10.4M
→→ Fruit and arable collections maintained and

made accessible

→→ A portfolio of Future Science projects that are

consistent with our SCP initiated to deliver value
to NZ’s sectors through high quality science
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Enduring &
Productive
Enduring &
partnerships
Productive
partnerships
Forming enduring and productive partnerships with research
colleagues in other CRIs and universities is a high priority for
Plant & Food Research. We share a number of target outcomes
with our CRI research partners, and our combined efforts
enhance our ability to deliver value and impact for New Zealand’s
productive sectors. These collaborations also advance the
contribution New Zealand’s science investments make to global
understanding, raise New Zealand’s profile, and connect us
with potential new collaborators and sources of international
research funds.

Research collaborations
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Research collaborations
Three of the many collaborations we participate in are profiled here:

SLURI – Soil and Land Use
Research Initiative

B3 – Better Border
Biosecurity

NuNZ – Nutrigenomics
New Zealand

Understanding the value of New Zealand’s
natural capital for land-based industries
can maintain and enhance access to
export markets. SLURI develops evidencebased tools that can be applied across the
horticultural, arable and pastoral sectors to
ensure the sustainable use and good health
of our productive soils and lands.

B3 is a multi-partner, cooperative science
collaboration investigating ways to reduce
the entry and establishment of new pests
in New Zealand, reducing the impact on our
productive industries and limiting market
access issues for our exports.

The research field of nutrigenomics
recognises that individuals differ in their
responses to food, food components and
dietary patterns. NuNZ is a multidisciplinary
collaborative research effort focused on
building an understanding of food, food
components, autoimmune diseases and
gut health with the aim of developing
gene-specific foods targeted at preventing,
ameliorating or curing diseases. The
programme focuses on a range of health
targets, including gut health, antiinflammatory diseases, and inflammatory
bowel disease.

The SLURI collaboration is building
knowledge on maintaining the health
quality of New Zealand soil. It also delivers
tools to support decision-making for
the management of New Zealand land,
assessing the value of natural capital and
determining the impacts and trade-offs of
different land uses. This knowledge is used
across the breadth of stakeholders – from
farmers and growers to regional councils.
Fit-for-purpose teams are drawn from
across the three CRI collaborating
organisations, drawing on a wide set of
skills. Over the last 2 years SLURI has
been developing a framework that links
soil quality indicators and ecosystem
services to assess resource outcomes
for use by regional councils. In addition,
natural capital valuations of soil developed
by SLURI have been used in two recent
Environment Court Hearings to guide land
use management decision making.
The members of SLURI are: AgResearch,
Landcare Research and Plant & Food
Research.
For more information visit
www.sluri.org.nz

The research programme aims to protect
New Zealand from pests that damage
crop plants, disrupt natural ecosystems,
and endanger human health elsewhere
in the world. The focus in on developing
approaches and tools to ensure harmful
organisms are kept out of New Zealand,
or, if they enter, are eradicated before
permanent populations establish.
Collaboration between the research
organisations, along with the participation
of end-users, helps to develop critical mass,
enhance networks, reduce duplication of
equipment and resources, and encourages
sharing and peer-review of ideas. Research
findings are used by key stakeholders
in the Ministry for Primary Industries,
the Department of Conservation and the
New Zealand Forest Owners Association.
B3 generates new tools, models and
approaches that these agencies are adopting
to enhance New Zealand’s biosecurity.
Research findings are published in peerreviewed journals, contributing to biosecurity
science globally.
The members of B3 are: Scion, AgResearch,
Lincoln University’s Bio-Protection Research
Centre and Plant & Food Research.
For more information visit
b3nz.org

The aim of the collaboration is to explain
how foods and food components affect
health at the molecular level. This
knowledge can be applied by the New
Zealand food export industry to better
understand, describe, market and validate
the health benefits of food products so that
companies can differentiate their products
in the marketplace and increase export
earnings. Particular strengths of NuNZ
lie in the integration of the University’s
research capability in nutrition and the
clinical expertise of the School of Medicine,
and knowledge of foods contributed by the
two CRIs, as well as the opportunity to build
new capability for New Zealand through
graduate students.
The members of NuNZ are: AgResearch,
the University of Auckland and Plant & Food
Research.
For more information visit
www.nutrigenomics.org.nz
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Good employer responsibilities
In the past year we have continued our efforts to develop and embed a Plant & Food
Research culture that is underpinned by three core values: the creative application of our
knowledge, achievement through leadership, and relationships based on mutual respect
and trust. Our people-related initiatives are intended to advance this objective and, in
doing so, our performance and reputation as a good employer.

Promoting Equal Employment Opportunities
Plant & Food Research is committed to the practice of equality of
opportunity, which provides for equal access, consideration and
encouragement in recruitment, selection, promotion, conditions
of employment and career development for both current and
prospective employees. Significant initiatives over the past year
include the re-establishment and widening of our Maori staff
network Nga Toa Ngaki Kai; the placement of two candidates under
the Mainstream programme promoting employment for those with
disabilities; and increased funding for our annual Margaret Hogg
Stec scholarships, which provide support for our female staff for
career development initiatives.
As part of collaborative initiative with other Crown Research
Institutes, we have established a set of workforce demographic
metrics that will inform planning and enable us to monitor progress
in achieving workforce composition objectives.

Best practice recruitment and selection
In the year ending 30 June 2012 Plant & Food Research appointed 61
people (37 female, 24 male), including 38 into scientific and technical
roles (21 female, 17 male). Of this, 29 were appointed to roles from
within the organisation. A strong emphasis is placed on the use of
best practice recruitment procedures for all appointments, with line
managers being supported in this by members of our HR advisory
team. Our commitment to identifying and recruiting high calibre
individuals is supported through regular participation in career
events at universities across New Zealand and our annual Summer
Studentship Programme, which in 2011/2012 provided 37 promising
science students with their first experience of working in science.

Developing leadership at all levels
Our Leadership Programme is Plant & Food Research’s primary
vehicle for the development of its current and future leaders and the
promotion of a unified, positive culture. Over the past year 44 people
participated in the programme for the first time, including 32 in our
Cornerstones of Leadership programme, which is targeted at our
high potential individuals who have yet to have line management
responsibilities. A new Team Development programme, aligning
team leader development with team effectiveness building and
planning, was piloted successfully and is now being extended across
the organisation.

Progressive conditions of employment
The Plant & Food Research General Terms & Conditions of
Employment form the basis of our Collective Agreement with
the Public Service Association and individual employment
agreements with other staff. In addition to standard requirements
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for employment agreements, our conditions include a range of
provisions promoting equal employment opportunities, career
development and employee participation in the development of the
workplace. Career and associated remuneration structures for both
our researchers and our other professional staff utilise standard
job evaluation methodologies and peer review to ensure both
equity and transparency in terms of both salaries and progression
opportunities. Paid parental leave and provision for flexible and
part–time hours of work enable employees to balance their work
and family responsibilities and minimise disruption to their careers.
Our Code of Conduct & Ethics defines the standards of conduct
and professionalism expected at all levels of the organisation. In
addition, the Policy on Unacceptable Behaviour aims to promote an
environment of equity and respect by defining those behaviours that
are unacceptable and providing constructive direction in situations
where unacceptable behaviour may occur. In the past year we have
established and trained an Institute-wide network of contact people
to provide confidential support and advice to staff on the policy.

A safe and healthy work environment
Plant & Food Research places a strong emphasis on ensuring that
our people have the practical knowledge and guidance required
to ensure their safety at work. The National Health & Safety
Committee, comprising staff and management representatives,
is responsible for setting and reviewing the Institute’s health &
safety programme, in line with continuous improvement principles.
In August 2012 the Institute’s continuing efforts in this regard
saw it once more achieve tertiary level requirements for ACC’s
Workplace Safety Management Practices programme. Over the
past year we have made a significant investment in ensuring safe
laboratory practices through NZQA unit standard training in hazard
management for over 100 of our laboratory managers. Employee
health and well-being was promoted through an Institute-wide
wellness initiative which included the 10,000 Steps programme.

Job losses
In the past year a total of 26 science jobs were lost as the Institute
responded to changes in its revenue streams and research
priorities. While we were able to redeploy a number of the affected
staff to other positions within the Institute, 21 staff have been made
redundant. Other staff have been asked to relocate to enable the
consolidation of research activities and generate efficiencies. As
an organisation we are very conscious of the impact this has, both
on the affected staff and their colleagues. Concerted efforts have
been made to assist people to transition by providing extended
notice periods, professional outplacement support and, in a number
of cases, supporting individuals to continue their research in an
independent capacity or as associates of the Institute.

CRI stakeholder
experience survey
The CRIs’ shareholding Ministers are interested in how the performance of a
CRI changes over time, and in how a CRI can improve its performance. The CRI
Taskforce recommended that each CRI be monitored against key performance
indicators. Engagement with stakeholders is vital, as that is how we develop and
deliver maximum value from our science research.
The Ministry of Business Innovation & Employment commissioned Colmar
Brunton to survey stakeholders on end-user collaboration; research
collaboration; technology and knowledge transfer; and overall satisfaction.
The online survey ran from 10 to 30 July. 500 individuals were invited to
participate, and 218 responses across a range of sectors were received. The 44
percent response rate is satisfactory and gives a high degree of confidence. The
true response rate is higher as, in some instances, multiple people from an entity
(particularly large and diverse entities) collaborated to respond.

Results
The results exclude those responding “not relevant” to the question. Satisfaction
includes those scoring between 6 and 10 inclusive.

Indicator

Statement

75%

Have an effective relationship with Plant & Food Research

87%

Research
collaboration

Confident that Plant & Food Research has the ability to put together the most
appropriate research teams

90%

Technology
and knowledge
transfer

Have adopted knowledge or technology from Plant & Food Research in the past 3 years

93%

Satisfied with their experience of accessing knowledge or technology from
Plant & Food Research

90%

Overall
satisfaction

Interacted with Plant & Food Research in the past years and are satisfied with the
overall quality of their experience

85%

Result

Satisfied with the way Plant & Food Research sets research priorities

End user
collaboration

The Operating Principles set out in our Statement of
Core Purpose state:
End-user collaboration: CRIs are expected to develop strong, long-term
partnerships with industry, government and Maori, and to work with them to set
research priorities that are well linked to the needs and potential of their endusers.
Research collaboration: CRIs are expected to develop collaborative relationships
with other CRIs, universities and other research institutions within New Zealand
and internationally to form the best teams to deliver the CRI’s core purpose.
Technology and knowledge transfer: CRIs are expected to transfer technology
and knowledge from domestic and international sources to New Zealand
industry, government and Maori.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors are pleased to present the financial statements
of The New Zealand Institute for Plant & Food Research Limited
for the year ended 30 June 2012.

Results of Group Operations

Revenue

				
			

Operating profit/(loss) before taxation

2012
Actual

2012
Budget

2011
Actual

$000

$000

$000

121,375

113,240

113,217

1,595

(406)

778

310

(516)

(92)

1,285

110

870

Less taxation expense/(benefit)
Operating profit attributable to Parent

Principal Activity of the Group

Directors’ Remuneration

The Group’s principal activity is to provide scientific research that benefits
New Zealand, within the horticulture, arable, seafood and processed
food industries; in accordance with the purpose and principles for the
operation of Crown Research Institutes as set out in sections 4 and 5 of
the Crown Research Institutes Act 1992.
The Company is a private company limited by shares and incorporated in
accordance with the Companies Act 1993.

During the year the following remuneration was paid or payable to
Directors in accordance with the schedule approved by the Shareholding
Ministers:

Review of Operations
A review of the operations accompany this report on page 4.
Share Dealings
The Directors have not, and are unable to, trade in shares of the Company
as all shares of the Company are held by the Shareholding Ministers on
behalf of the Crown. Accordingly the Board has received no notices of
dealings in relevant interests in shares of the Company.
Directors’ Insurance
Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance was effected for the Directors
and certain employees of the Company. The insurance is in respect of
certain specified liabilities, not including criminal liability, incurred by
a Director or employee in respect of any act or omission in his or her
capacity as a Director or employee of the Company.
The Company has indemnified Directors and certain employees of the
Company for costs and proceedings and for liabilities incurred by the
employee in respect of any act or omission in his or her capacity as an
employee of the Company. The indemnity for liabilities incurred does not
extend to criminal liability or liability for breach of a fiduciary duty owed to
the Company.
Auditors
Paul Clark of PricewaterhouseCoopers has been appointed as the audit
service provider by the Auditor-General. The Auditor-General is the
statutory auditor pursuant to section 14 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and
section 21 of the Crown Research Institutes Act 1992.

M Ahie
A Stewart
J Scotland
M Bayly
S Pezic
M Stuart
T Muller
J Hunter

Group $
70,320
43,380
39,720
38,200
38,200
34,824
34,200
28,500

(appointed 1 July 2011)
(appointed 1 July 2011)
(resigned 1 May 2012)

Remuneration of Employees
The number of employees and ex-employees whose total remuneration,
including benefits and severance payments, on an annualised basis, was
in excess of $100,000 in $10,000 bands, is:

Remuneration Number of
bands in $000 employees

Remuneration Number of
bands in $000 employees

100 - 109
110 - 119
120 - 129
130 - 139
140 - 149
150 - 159
160 - 169
180 - 189**
190 - 199**

200 - 209**
210 - 219
220 - 229
230 - 239**
300 - 309
310 - 319
360 - 369
470 - 479*

44
38
15
7
4
5
5
4
1

* Includes the Chief Executive’s remuneration
** Includes termination payments

Significant Changes
There were no significant changes to the business of the Company during
the year.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors:

Michael Ahie, Chairman
23 August 2012

22

3
1
2
3
1
1
1
1

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

TO THE READERS OF THE NEW ZEALAND INSTITUTE FOR
PLANT & FOOD RESEARCH LIMITED AND GROUP’S
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2012

The Auditor-General is the auditor of The New Zealand Institute for
Plant & Food Research Limited (the company) and group. The AuditorGeneral has appointed me, Paul Clark, using the staff and resources
of PricewaterhouseCoopers, to carry out the audit of the financial
statements of the company and group, on her behalf, for the year
ended 30 June 2012.
We have audited the financial statements of the company and group on
pages 24 to 51, that comprise the balance sheet as at 30 June 2012, the
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity
and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date and the
notes to the financial statements that include accounting policies and
other explanatory information.
Opinion on the financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements of the company and group on
pages 24 to 51:
• comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand;
• comply with International Financial Reporting Standards; and
• give a true and fair view of the company and group’s:
- financial position as at 30 June 2012; and
- financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on that
date.
Opinion on other legal requirements
In accordance with the Financial Reporting Act 1993 we report that, in
our opinion, proper accounting records have been kept by the company
as far as appears from an examination of those records.
Our audit was completed on 23 August 2012. This is the date at which
our opinion is expressed.
The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the
responsibilities of the Board of Directors and our responsibilities, and
we explain our independence.
Basis of opinion
We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s
Auditing Standards, which incorporate the International Standards
on Auditing (New Zealand). Those standards require that we comply
with ethical requirements and plan and carry out our audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free
from material misstatement.
Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and
disclosures that would affect a reader’s overall understanding of the
financial statements. If we had found material misstatements that
were not corrected, we would have referred to them in our opinion.
An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including our
assessment of risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments; we consider internal control relevant to the company and
group’s preparation of the financial statements that fairly reflect the
matters to which they relate. We consider internal control in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
company and group’s internal control.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete
accuracy of the financial statements. In accordance with the Financial
Reporting Act 1993, we report that we have obtained all the information
and explanations we have required. We believe we have obtained
sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Responsibilities of the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is responsible for preparing financial
statements that:
• comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand;
and
• give a true and fair view of the company and group’s financial
position, financial performance and cash flows.
The Board of Directors is also responsible for such internal control
as it determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.
The Board of Directors’ responsibilities arise from the Crown Research
Institutes Act 1992 and the Financial Reporting Act 1993.
Responsibilities of the Auditor
We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the
financial statements and reporting that opinion to you based on our
audit. Our responsibility arises from section 15 of the Public Audit Act
2001 and the Crown Research Institutes Act 1992.
Independence
When carrying out the audit, we followed the independence requirements
of the Auditor-General, which incorporate the independence
requirements of the New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants.
Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the
company or any of its subsidiaries.
Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the
audited financial statements
This audit report relates to the financial statements of The New
Zealand Institute for Plant & Food Research Limited (the Company)
(the company) for the year ended 30 June 2012 included on the
company’s website. The company’s Board of Directors is responsible
for the maintenance and integrity of the company’s website. We have
not been engaged to report on the integrity of the company’s website.
We accept no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred
to the financial statements since they were initially presented on the
website.
The audit report refers only to the financial statements named above. It
does not provide an opinion on any other information which may have
been hyperlinked to or from the financial statements. If readers of this
report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic
data communication they should refer to the published hard copy of the
audited financial statements and related audit report dated 23 August
2012 to confirm the information included in the audited financial
statements presented on this website.
Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and
dissemination of financial information may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions.

An audit also involves evaluating:
• the appropriateness of accounting policies used and whether they
have been consistently applied;
• the reasonableness of the significant accounting estimates and
judgements made by the Board of Directors;
• the adequacy of all disclosures in the financial statements; and
• the overall presentation of the financial statements.

Paul Clark
PricewaterhouseCoopers
On behalf of the Auditor-General
Auckland, New Zealand
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STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
for the year ended 30 June 2012

Note

Profit and loss
Revenue
Core funding
Crown-funded research contracts
Commercial science research contracts
Other income

Less operating costs
Personnel costs
Depreciation expense
Amortisation expense
(Gain) on sale of assets
Impairment of investments
Other operating expenses

Group
2012
Budget

2011
Actual

Parent
2012
2011
Actual
Actual

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

43,103
21,203
54,334
2,735
121,375

43,103
16,441
51,665
2,031
113,240

61,700
49,498
2,019
113,217

43,103
21,203
54,334
2,735
121,375

61,700
49,498
2,016
113,214

69,664
7,926
1,306
(433)
237
41,530
120,230

63,982
8,216
800
(1,318)
42,154
113,834

68,192
8,237
979
(420)
35,849
112,837

68,857
7,919
1,306
(433)
177
42,423
120,249

67,493
8,229
979
(420)
68
36,532
112,881

1,145
494
(79)
35

(594)
328
(140)
-

380
471
(139)
66

1,126
593
(79)
-

333
466
(139)
-

1,595
310
1,285

(406)
(516)
110

778
(92)
870

1,640
(139)
1,779

660
180
480

3
28
31
1,316

110

(12)
(81)
(93)
777

28
28
1,807

(81)
(81)
399

(4)
(5)
(5)
(19) (20)
(6)

Operating profit/(loss) before interest & taxation
Finance income
Finance costs
Share of retained profit of associates
Operating profit/(loss) before taxation
Taxation expense/(benefit)
Operating profit after taxation attributable to owners
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Currency translation differences
Cashflow hedges, net of tax
Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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2012
Actual

(7)
(7)
(19)

(8)

(22)
(23)

STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 30 June 2012

Attributable to Owners of the Group
Note

Share capital

Retained
earnings

Foreign currency
translation

Cash flow
hedge

Total Equity

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

Balance as at 01 July 2010
Changes in equity for
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income, net of taxes

17,436

(22)

Other comprehensive income, net of taxes

(43)

21

870

(22) (23)

Balance as at 30 June 2011
Changes in equity for
Profit for the year

50,048

17,436

(22)

50,918

870
(12)

(81)

(93)

(55)

(60)

68,239

1,285

(22) (23)

Balance as at 30 June 2012

17,436

52,203

67,462

1,285
3

28

31

(52)

(32)

69,555

Attributable to Owners of the Parent
Note

Share capital

Retained
earnings

Cash flow
hedge

Total Equity

$000

$000

$000

$000

Balance as at 01 July 2010

17,436

Changes in equity for
Profit for the year

(22)

Other comprehensive income, net of taxes

(23)

Balance as at 30 June 2011

(22)

Other comprehensive income, net of taxes

(23)

Balance as at 30 June 2012

21

480

17,436

Changes in equity for
Profit for the year

49,575

50,055

480
(81)

(81)

(60)

67,431

1,779

17,436

51,834

67,032

1,779
28

28

(32)

69,238

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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BALANCE SHEETS
as at 30 June 2012

Current assets
Cash and short-term deposits
Receivables and prepayments
Inventories
Taxation receivable
Assets held for sale
Total current assets

2012
Actual

Group
2012
Budget

2011
Actual

Note

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

(9)
(10)
(11)

14,577
17,470
551
821
33,419

4,776
16,847
300
205
22,128

10,531
20,404
424
709
611
32,679

14,270
17,559
550
821
33,200

10,269
20,403
423
304
611
32,010

11,861
10,154
557
16
324
22,912

13,288
10,348
15
23,651

16,666
9,724
180
15
26,585

11,956
10,103
557
16
302
22,934

16,768
9,683
180
15
26,646

10,507

(1,523)

6,094

10,266

5,364

(16)

Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accruals
Employee entitlements
Restructuring provision
Current portion mortgage
Taxation payable
Total current liabilities

(12)
(13)
(14)
(15)

Working capital
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets
Investments - subsidiaries
Investments - associates
Investments - other
Total non-current assets

(16)
(17)
(18)
(19)
(20)

60,284
1,969
352
155
62,760

72,935
1,650
350
380
75,315

63,509
2,057
411
388
66,365

60,252
1,969
67
268
62,556

63,476
2,057
280
381
66,194

Non-current liabilities
Employee entitlements
Mortgage
Deferred tax liability
Total non-current liabilities

(13)
(15)
(21)

895
259
2,558
3,712

650
638
3,200
4,488

735
276
3,209
4,220

848
259
2,477
3,584

709
276
3,142
4,127

69,555

69,304

68,239

69,238

67,431

NET ASSETS

Represented by:
Equity
Share capital

(22)

17,436

17,436

17,436

17,436

17,436

Retained earnings
Foreign currency translation reserve
Cash flow hedge reserve

(22)
(22)
(23)

52,203
(52)
(32)

51,869
(1)
-

50,918
(55)
(60)

51,834
(32)

50,055
(60)

69,555

69,304

68,239

69,238

67,431

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors:

Michael Ahie, Chairman
23 August 2012

Jim Scotland, Director
23 August 2012

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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Parent
2012
2011
Actual
Actual

CASH FLOW STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2012

2012
Actual

Group
2012
Budget

2011
Actual

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

Cashflows from/(applied to) operating activities
Receipts from customers
Interest and dividends from investments

128,309
459

121,847
328

127,070
435

128,309
459

126,628
430

Payments to employees & suppliers
Interest paid
Tax paid/received

(118,797)
(79)
171

(113,189)
(16)
-

(114,758)
(12)
(466)

(118,916)
(79)
181

(114,511)
(12)
(450)

10,063

8,970

12,269

9,954

12,085

665
136

1,550
-

1,202
-

665
136

1,106
-

(5,807)
(995)
-

(13,500)
(1,000)
-

(8,729)
(1,289)
(3)

(5,803)
(995)
-

(8,728)
(1,289)
(3)

(6,001)

(12,950)

(8,819)

(5,997)

(8,914)

-

-

-

60

500

Repayment of mortgage

(16)

-

(14)

(16)

(14)

Net cashflows from financing activities

(16)

(14)

44

486

Note

Net cashflows from operating activities

(25)

Cashflows from/(applied to) investing activities
Sale of property, plant and equipment
Sale of intangible assets
Sale of investment
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchase of investments

(17)

Net cashflows from investing activities
Cashflows from/(applied to) financing activities
Repayment from GraceLinc

Net cashflow
Effect of foreign currency translation adjustment
Opening cash position
Closing cash position

(9)

Parent
2012
2011
Actual
Actual

4,046

(3,980)

3,436

4,001

3,657

10,531

8,756

(2)
7,097

10,269

6,612

14,577

4,776

10,531

14,270

10,269

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
for the year ended 30 June 2012

1. Reporting Entities
The New Zealand Institute for Plant & Food Research Limited (the “Company” or “Plant & Food Research”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is a Crown
Research Institute governed by the Crown Research Institute Act 1992 and is a limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in New Zealand. The
whole of the share capital is held by Ministers of the Crown on behalf of the New Zealand Government. The Company’s registered office is 120 Mt Albert
Road, Sandringham, Auckland 1025.
The Group is primarily involved in research services on a fee-for-service basis.
The parent Company and the Group are designated as profit-oriented entities for financial reporting purposes.
These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 23 August 2012.

2. Basis of Preparation
The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars (NZD), which is the Company’s functional and presentation currency. All financial
information presented in New Zealand dollars has been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($000).
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial assets, and financial assets
and financial liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value through profit or loss.
(A) Statement of Compliance
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Crown Research Institutes Act 1992, the Public Finance Act
1989, the Companies Act 1993 and the Financial Reporting Act 1993.
The financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with New Zealand generally accepted accounting practice (NZ GAAP). They comply with
New Zealand equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (NZ IFRS), and other Financial Reporting Standards, as appropriate for profitoriented entities. They also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS).
(B) Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenue and expenses. Although these estimates are based on management’s knowledge of current events and actions that may be undertaken in the
future, actual results may ultimately differ from estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies.
Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is
revised and in any future periods affected. Use of estimates and assumptions is disclosed further in note 3(X).
(C) Standards and Interpretations Issued and not yet Adopted
The following new standards and amendments to standards that have been issued but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group
are:
NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
Effective from 1 January 2015 NZ IFRS 9 will replace the multiple classification and measurement models in NZ IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition
and Measurement with a single model that has two classification categories: amortised cost and fair value. The Group is yet to assess the full impact and
when it will adopt NZ IFRS 9.
NZ IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
Effective from 1 January 2013 NZ IFRS 10 builds on existing principles by identifying the concept of control as the determining factor in whether an entity
should be included within the consolidated financial statements. The Group expects there to be no material impact from the application of this standard.
NZ IFRS 11 Joint Ventures
Effective from 1 January 2013 NZ IFRS 11 makes a distinction between joint ventures and joint operations.The proposals require the accounting to reflect
the contractual rights and obligations agreed by the parties. The option to apply the proportional consolidation method when accounting for jointly
controlled entities has been removed. The Group is yet to assess the full impact and when it will adopt NZ IFRS 11.
NZ IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
Effective from 1 January 2013 NZ IFRS 12 is a new standard on disclosure requirements for all forms of interests in other entities, including joint
arrangements, associates, special purpose vehicles and other off balance sheet vehicles. The Group expects there to be no material impact from the
application of this standard.
NZ IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
Effective from 1 January 2013 NZ IFRS 13 defines fair value and sets out a single IFRS framework for measuring fair value and required disclosures
about fair value measurements. The measurement and disclosure requirements of NZ IFRS 13 apply when another IFRS requires or permits the item to
be measured at fair value (with limited exceptions). The Group expects there to be no material impact from the application of this standard.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the year ended 30 June 2012

3. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements.
(A) Basis of Consolidation
(i) Subsidiaries
The consolidated financial statements of the Group include the parent entity, Plant & Food Research, and its controlled entities. Controlled entities
include entities over which the Group has the power to govern financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from the activities of the entity.
This power exists where the Group controls the majority voting power on the governing body or where such policies have been irreversibly predetermined
by the Group or where the determination of such policies is unable to materially impact upon the level of potential ownership benefits that arise from the
activities of the subsidiary. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date which the Group
obtains control and until such time as the Group ceases to control the entity. Any changes in the Parent ownership interest that do not result in the loss
of control are accounted for as equity transactions.
The Group measures the cost of a business combination as the aggregate of fair values, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, in exchange for control of the subsidiary plus any costs directly attributable to the business combination.
Any excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities is recognised as goodwill. If the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised
exceeds the cost of the business combination, the difference will be recognised immediately in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
The purchase method of accounting is used to prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group. In preparing the consolidated financial
statements, the effects of all transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between entities in the Group have been
eliminated. The Group’s investment in its subsidiaries are initially carried at cost in the Parent’s financial statements subject to any write down arising
from an annual impairment review.
The financial statements of controlled entities have been prepared for the same reporting period as the parent entity, using consistent accounting
policies.
(ii) Associates
Associates are those entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, of the financial and operating policies.
Investments in associate companies have been accounted for using the equity method of accounting and are initially recognised at cost and the carrying
amount is increased or decreased to recognise the Group’s share of the surplus or deficit of the associate after the date of acquisition. The Group’s share
of the surplus or deficit of the associate is recognised in the Group’s Statement of Comprehensive Income. Distributions received from an associate
reduce the carrying amount of the investment.
If the Group’s share of deficits of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, the Group discontinues recognising it’s share of further
deficits. After the Group’s interest is reduced to zero, additional deficits are provided for, and a liability is recognised, only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently reports surpluses, the Group will
resume recognising its share of those surpluses only after its share of the surpluses equals the share of the deficits not recognised.
The Group’s share in the associate’s surplus or deficits resulting from unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates is
eliminated.
(iii) Joint Ventures
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby two or more parties undertake an economic activity that is subject to joint control. The Group
recognises its interest in jointly controlled entities using the equity method. The investment in a jointly controlled entity is initially recognised at cost and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognise the Group’s share of the surplus or deficit of the jointly controlled entity after the date of
acquisition. The Group’s share of the profit or loss of the jointly controlled entity is recognised in the Group’s Statement of Comprehensive Income.
(B) Revenue
Revenue is recognised at the fair value of consideration received or receivable to the extent that it is probable, that economic benefits will flow to the
Group. Revenue is shown net of GST, returns and discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group. The following specific recognition criteria must
be met before revenue is recognised:
(i) Core funding
Core funding from the Crown, was established 1 July 2011 and is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the year it is received.
(ii) Crown-funded research contracts
Revenue from the Crown is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when the requirements under the funding agreement have been met.
(iii) Commercial science research contracts
Sale of goods
Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have passed to the buyer and the amount
of revenue can be reliably measured. Risks and rewards are considered passed to the buyer at the time of delivery of the goods to the customer.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the year ended 30 June 2012

Sale of services
Research services are provided on a fixed-price contract, with contract terms generally ranging from less than a year to five years.
Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction, assessed on the basis of the
actual service provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided. If circumstances arise that may change the extent of the progress toward
completion, the estimates are revised. These revisions may result in increases or decreases in estimated revenues or costs and are reflected in income
in the period in which the circumstances that give rise to the revision become known by management.
Royalties
Royalty revenue is recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement.
(iv) Other income
Rental income
Lease receipts under an operating lease are recognised as revenue on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
(v) Dividend and interest revenue
Dividend revenue from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established. Interest revenue is
recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.
(C) Foreign Currency Translation
Foreign currency transactions are translated into New Zealand dollars using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions, except when
forward currency contracts have been taken out to cover short-term forward currency commitments. Where short-term forward currency contracts have
been taken out, the transaction is translated at the rate contained in the contract. Foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities are
translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the period end. Foreign exchange gains or losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at balance date of foreign denominated monetary assets and liabilities are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income,
except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges.
The results and balance sheets of all foreign operations that have a functional currency different from New Zealand dollars are translated
into the presentation currency as follows:
The assets and liabilities of foreign controlled entities are translated by applying the rate ruling at balance date and revenue and expense items are
translated at the average rate calculated for the period. The exchange differences arising on the re translation are taken directly to equity in the foreign
currency translation reserve.
On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and of borrowing and other currency
instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholder’s equity.
(D) Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
(E) Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with maturities of three
months or less after balance date, that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the Balance Sheet.
(F) Trade and Other Receivables
Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any
provision for doubtful receivables.
Collectibility of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectible are written off when identified. A provision
for doubtful receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original
terms of receivables. The amount of the provision is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate, if applicable. The amount of the provision is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the provision if it has been provided for or immediately recognised in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income if not. Any recoveries of trade receivables written off are credited against bad debts in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the year ended 30 June 2012

(G) Inventories
Inventories held for distribution or consumption in the provision of services that are not supplied on a commercial basis are measured at the lower of
cost and current replacement cost.
Inventories held for use in the production of goods and services on a commercial basis are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined using the first-in, first-out method and for both work in progress and finished goods includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the
inventories and bringing them to their existing location and condition. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less applicable variable selling expenses.
Agricultural produce is valued at fair value less estimated selling costs.
The write down from cost to current replacement cost or net realisable value is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
The profit contained in the intra-company sales of inventory has been eliminated on consolidation.
(H) Property, Plant and Equipment
The Group has four classes of property, plant and equipment:
- Land
- Buildings
- Plant and equipment
- Motor vehicles
Land is recorded at cost. All other property, plant and equipment is shown at cost or valuation, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses, except for assets transferred from the Crown. Property, plant and equipment transferred from the Crown has been included in the
accounts at values established by independent valuers. All subsequent expenditure has been initially recorded at cost.
Cost includes expenditures that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount only
when it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential associated with the asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably. All other costs are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income when the expense is incurred. Where an asset is acquired
at no cost, or for a nominal cost, it is recognised at fair value as at the date of acquisition. The Group constructs some items of plant for use in research.
These have been brought into the accounts at the cost of direct labour and materials plus an appropriate proportion of direct overheads.
Land transferred to the Group cannot be freely traded. Section 30 of the Crown Research Institutes Act 1992 requires that prior to sale sections 40-42 of
the Public Works Act 1981 be complied with. These sections require that land offered for sale must be offered to the original owner of that land or their
successors. An arbitration clause is included to establish fair values for such offers.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount of the asset. Gains and losses on disposal are
included in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
(i) Non-current Assets Held for Sale
Non-current assets are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered principally through a sale transaction and a sale
is considered highly probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell if their carrying amount is to be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use and a sale is considered highly probable.
(I) Depreciation
Depreciation on assets, except land, is calculated using the straight-line method, at rates calculated to allocate the asset’s cost, less estimated residual
value, over its estimated useful life. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of the unexpired period of the lease and the estimated
useful life of improvements.
The useful lives of major asset classes of property, plant and equipment have been estimated as follows:
Land 		
10 - 40 years
Buildings 		
10 - 100 years
Plant and equipment 3 - 10 years
Motor vehicles
3 - 10 years
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each financial year-end.
The assets’ carrying value is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount.
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(J) Intangible Assets
(i) Goodwill
Goodwill is initially measured at its cost, being the excess of acquisition cost over the Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities. Goodwill on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets by applying the purchase method. Goodwill on
acquisition of associates is included in investments in associates by applying the equity method.
Goodwill arising in business combinations is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested for impairment annually. After initial recognition, the Group
measures goodwill at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill will not be reversed in any subsequent
period.
Goodwill is allocated to cash generating units for the purpose of impairment testing.
(ii) Software
The cost of software, databases and related items, either acquired or internally generated, is recognised as an expense when incurred, except for:
The cost of software, databases and related items, either acquired or internally generated, which are unique and controlled by the Group, and that will
probably generate measurable economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year is capitalised as intangible assets.
Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as an expense when incurred.
The carrying value of software is amortised on a straight-line basis over its useful life. Amortisation begins when the asset is available for use and
ceases at the date that the asset is derecognised. The amortisation charge for each period is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
The useful lives and associated amortisation rates of major classes of intangible assets have been estimated as follows:
Software 3 - 5 years
(iii) Trademarks and licenses
The cost of acquired trademarks and licenses are capitalised as intangible assets where they will probably generate measurable economic benefits
exceeding costs beyond one year. Trademarks and licenses have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost over their estimated useful lives, which is between 10 and 15 years.
(iv) Research and development
Research and development is the business of the Company. Most work is performed under contract for others, and in most cases intellectual property
rights are retained. All research and development costs are expensed in the period they are incurred.
When a project reaches the stage where it will probably generate future measurable economic benefits exceeding development cost, development cost
is recognised as an intangible asset. The asset is amortised from the commencement of commercial production of the product to which it relates, on a
straight-line basis, over the period of expected benefit.
(K) Investments and Other Financial Assets
The Group classifies its investments by the following categories: financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments,
loans and receivables and available-for-sale financial assets. The classification depends on the purpose for which the investments were acquired.
Management determines the classification of its investments at initial recognition and re-evaluates this designation at each reporting date.
Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs unless they are carried at fair value through profit or loss, in
which case the transaction costs are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial
assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership.
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted market price
used is the current bid price.
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation techniques.
The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at each balance date. Quoted market prices
or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used for long-term debt instruments held. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are
used to determine fair value for the remaining financial instruments.
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(i) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at fair value through profit or loss at inception. A financial
asset is classified in this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term or if so designated by management.
Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets if they
are either held for trading or are expected to be realised within 12 months of the balance sheet date. After initial recognition they are measured at their
fair values. Gains or losses on remeasurement are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Financial assets in this category include derivatives, see note 3 (T).
(ii) Financial assets at fair value through equity (available for sale)
Financial assets at fair value through equity are those that are designated as fair value through equity or are not classified in any of the other categories.
This category encompasses:
- Investments that Plant & Food Research intends to hold long-term but which may be realised before maturity; and
- Shareholdings that Plant & Food Research holds for strategic purposes.
Plant & Food Research’s investments in its subsidiary and associate companies are not included in this category as they are held at cost (as allowed by
NZ IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and NZ IAS 28 Investments in Associates) whereas this category is to be measured at fair
value.
After initial recognition these investments are measured at their fair value. Gains and losses are recognised directly in equity except for impairment
losses, which are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. In the event of impairment, any cumulative losses previously recognised in
equity will be removed from equity and recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income even though the asset has not been derecognised. On derecognition the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
(iii) Loans and receivables
These are non derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
After initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses when the asset is impaired or
derecognised are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Loans and receivables are classified as “trade and other receivables” and
“cash and short term deposits” in the Balance Sheet.
(L) Impairment of Financial Assets
At each balance sheet date the Group assesses whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. Any
impairment losses are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
(M) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than inventories and deferred tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date to
determine whether there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. Where an indicator of impairment exists, or where annual impairment testing
for an asset is required, the Group makes a formal estimate of the recoverable amount. Assets that have a finite useful life are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an asset where the future economic
benefits or service potential of the asset are not primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate net cash flows and where the entity would, if
deprived of the asset, replace its remaining future economic benefits or service potential.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cashgenerating units). The value in use for cash-generating assets is the present value of expected future cash flows. An impairment loss is recognised in
the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each
reporting date, this is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
(N) Trade Payables
Trade payables are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.
(O) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (either legal or constructive), as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are
not recognised for future operating losses.
Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the balance
sheet date, the discount rate used to determine the present value reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as an interest expense.
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(P) Employee Benefits
(i) Wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave and other benefits
Provision is made for employee benefits accumulated as a result of employees rendering services up to balance date including related oncosts.
The benefits include wages and salaries, annual leave, sick leave, incentives and other benefits. The provision for employee benefits is measured at the
remuneration rates expected to be paid when the liability is settled.
The Group recognises a liability for sick leave to the extent that absences in the coming year are expected to be greater than the sick leave entitlements
earned in the coming year. The amount is calculated based on the unused sick leave entitlement that can be carried forward at balance date, to the
extent that the Group anticipates it will be used by staff to cover those future absences.
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has created a constructive
obligation.
(ii) Long service leave and retirement leave
Service leave and retirement leave entitlements are calculated based on the employee’s entitlement and their current pay rate. The liability for long
service leave is recognised in the provision for employee benefits and measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect
of services provided by employees up to the reporting date. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, experience of employee
departures and periods of service.
Long term benefits expected to be settled within 12 months are classified as employee entitlements under current liabilities.
(iii) Pension and post retirement benefits
The Group operates a defined contribution superannuation plan. A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed
contributions to a separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior periods.
The Group’s contributions made to defined contribution superannuation plans are recognised as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
when they are due.
(iv) Restructuring
A provision for restructuring is recognised when the Company has approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan, and the restructuring either has
commenced or has been announced publicly.
(Q) Leases
The Company leases certain plant and equipment, land and buildings.
Finance leases, where the lessee is transferred substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of an asset, whether or not title is
eventually transferred.
At the commencement of the lease term, the Group recognises finance leases as assets and liabilities in the Balance Sheet at the lower of the fair value
of the leased item or the present value of the minimum lease payments. The amount recognised as an asset is depreciated over its useful life. If there is
uncertainty as to whether the Group will obtain ownership at the end of the lease term, the asset is fully depreciated over the shorter of the lease term
and its useful life.
Operating lease payments, where the lessors effectively retains substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are
recognised as an expense in the Statement of Comprehensive Income on a straight line basis over the lease term.
(R) Income Tax
(i) Current tax
Income tax expense comprises both current tax and deferred tax, and is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted by
balance date. Current tax and deferred tax are charged or credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income, except when they relate to items charged
or credited directly to equity, in which case the tax is dealt with in equity. Current tax is the amount of income tax payable based on the taxable profit for
the current year, plus any adjustments to income tax payable in respect of prior years.
(ii) Deferred tax
Deferred tax is the amount of income tax payable or recoverable in future periods in respect of temporary differences calculated using the liability
method and unused tax losses. Deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of goodwill or from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction, other than a business combination, that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss.
Deferred tax is recognised if it arises from investments in subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the company can
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax is measured using the tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled. A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at
each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.
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(S) Goods & Services Tax (GST)
The Statement of Comprehensive Income has been prepared so that all components are stated exclusive of GST. All items in the Balance Sheet are
stated net of GST, with the exception of receivables and payables which include GST invoiced. Where GST is not recoverable as input tax then it is
recognised as part of the related asset or expense. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the Inland Revenue Department is included
as part of receivables or payables in the Balance Sheet.
The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD, including the GST relating to investing and financing activities, is classified as an operating cash flow in
the Cash Flow Statement.
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.
(T) Derivative Financial Instruments
The Group enters into derivative transactions, principally interest rate swaps and forward currency contracts. The purpose of these transactions is to
manage the interest rate and currency risk arising from the Group’s operations. All derivative financial instruments are recognised in the Balance Sheet
at their fair value. Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are recognised either in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in equity
depending on whether the derivative financial instrument qualifies for hedge accounting, and if so, whether it qualifies as a fair value hedge or cash flow
hedge.
In accordance with its treasury policy, the Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
Interest rate swaps are accounted for at fair value through the Statement of Comprehensive Income. At each balance date interest rate swap derivative
financial instruments are re-measured at their fair value with any changes in the fair value recognised immediately through the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.
Changes in the fair values of forward currency contracts that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, to the extent that they are effective
hedges, are recorded in equity. The gains and losses that are recognised in equity are transferred to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the
same period in which the hedged item affects earnings. On sale, expiry, or de-designation of a forward currency contract, the cumulative gains or losses
are maintained in equity until such time as the forecast transaction impacts earnings. If the forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur the
cumulative gain or loss is transferred to the Statement of Comprehensive Income. The Group documents at inception of the transaction the relationship
between hedging instruments and hedging items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The
process includes linking all forward currency contract derivative financial instruments to specific firm commitments or forecast transactions. The Group
also documents its assessment, both at the hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the forward currency derivative financial instruments
used are highly effective.
(U) Borrowings
Borrowings are initially recognised at their fair value plus transition costs. After initial recognition all borrowings are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.
(V) Equity
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
(W) Budget Figures
The budget figures are derived from the Statement of Corporate Intent as approved by the Board, and the Shareholder, at the beginning of the financial
year. The budget figures have been prepared in accordance with NZ IFRS, using accounting policies that are consistent with those adopted by the Group
for the preparation of these financial statements. The budget figures are unaudited.
(X) Critical Accounting Estimates and Assumptions
In preparing these financial statements the Group has made estimates and assumptions concerning the future. These estimates and assumptions
may differ from the subsequent actual results. Estimates and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectation of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:
(i) Property, plant and equipment useful lives and residual value
At each balance date the Group reviews the useful lives and residual values of its property, plant and equipment. Assessing the appropriateness of useful
life and residual value estimates of property, plant and equipment requires the Group to consider a number of factors such as the physical condition of
the asset, expected period of use of the asset by the Group, and expected disposal proceeds from the future sale of the asset.
An incorrect estimate of the useful life or the residual value will impact the depreciation expense recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income,
and carrying amount of the asset in the Balance Sheet. The Group minimises the risk of this estimation uncertainty by physical inspection of assets,
an asset replacement program, review of second hand market prices for similar assets and an analysis of prior asset sales. The Group has not made
significant changes to past assumptions concerning useful lives and residual values. The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment is disclosed
in note 16.
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(ii) Investment Impairment
The Parent annually performs an impairment review of its significant subsidiaries and associates. None of the subsidiaries or associates are actively
traded in any market. The carrying amount of investments is disclosed in notes 18 to 20.
(iii) Retirement and long service leave
The present value of the retirement and long service leave obligations depend on a number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis using a
number of assumptions. Two key assumptions used in calculating this liability include the discount rate and the salary inflation factor. Any changes in
these assumptions will impact on the carrying amount of the liability.
In determining the appropriate discount rate the Company considered the interest rates on NZ government bonds which have terms to maturity that
match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows. The salary inflation factor has been determined after considering historical salary
inflation patterns. A weighted average discount rate of 3.4% and a salary inflation factor of 3.3% were used.
If the discount rate were to differ by 1% from the Company’s estimates, with all other factors held constant, the carrying amount of the liability would be
an estimated $35,000 higher / lower.
If the salary inflation factor were to differ by 1% from the Company’s estimates, with all other factors held constant, the carrying amount of the liability
would be an estimated $2,000 higher / lower.
The carrying amount of employee entitlements are disclosed in the Balance Sheet.
(Y) Critical Judgements in Applying the Company’s Accounting Policies
Management has exercised the following critical judgement in applying the Company’s accounting policies for the period ended 30 June 2012:
(i) Lease classification
Determining whether a lease agreement is a finance or an operating lease requires judgement as to whether the agreement transfers substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group. Judgement is required on various aspects that include, but are not limited to, the fair value of the
leased asset, the economic life of the leased asset, whether or not to include renewal options in the lease term and determining an appropriate discount
rate to calculate the present value of the minimum lease payments.
Classification as a finance lease means the asset is recognised in the Balance Sheet as property, plant and equipment, whereas for an operating
lease no such asset is recognised. The Group has exercised its judgement on the appropriate classification of building and equipment leases and has
determined all leases are operating leases.
(Z) Dividend Distribution
Dividend distribution to the company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in which the dividends
are approved by the company’s shareholders.
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Group
Note
4. Operating Profit/(Loss) before Taxation
After charging
Auditors’ remuneration
Audit fees for financial statement audit
Bad debts written off
Change in provision for doubtful debts
Directors fees
Employer contributions to defined contribution plans
Unrealised foreign exchange (gains)/losses
(Gain) on sale of assets*

Parent

2012

2011

2012

2011

$000

$000

$000

$000

123
2
25
327
1,081
(36)
(433)

130
122
37
334
1,049
(114)
(420)

123
2
25
327
1,081
(36)
(433)

130
122
37
334
1,049
(114)
(420)

(16)

1,854
5,671
401
7,926

1,762
6,097
378
8,237

1,854
5,664
401
7,919

1,762
6,094
373
8,229

(17)

1,306
1,306

886
93
979

1,306
1,306

886
93
979

6,557
9,150
7,358
4,078
14,387
41,530

7,608
4,558
7,190
4,351
12,142
35,849

6,557
9,150
7,340
3,898
15,478
42,423

7,608
4,558
7,158
4,200
13,008
36,532

7. Net Finance Costs
Interest income on bank deposits
Dividends received
Finance income

484
10
494

460
11
471

484
109
593

455
11
466

Interest expense on bank borrowings
Finance expense

(79)
(79)

(139)
(139)

(79)
(79)

(139)
(139)

Total net finance costs

415

332

514

327

(10)

* 2012 gain includes insurance proceeds received of $460,000.

5. Depreciation and Amortisation
Depreciation
Buildings
Plant and equipment
Motor vehicles
Total depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Amortisation
Software and databases
Patents, trademarks and licences
Total amortisation of intangible assets

6. Other Operating Expenses
Other operating expenses
Materials and equipment
Research contracts
Rental and operating lease costs
Travel
Other general operating costs
Total general operating expenses

37

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
for the year ended 30 June 2012

Group

8. Taxation
Profit/(loss) before taxation
Prima facie taxation @ 28% (2011: 30%)

Note

Plus/(less) taxation effect:
Non-assessable income
Non-deductible expenditure
Prior period adjustment
Imputation credits on dividends received
Change in corporate tax rate
Deferred tax change on buildings
Utilisation of tax losses
Tax losses not carried forward

The taxation charge is represented by:
Current taxation
Deferred tax benefit

(21)

Parent

2012

2011

2012

2011

$000

$000

$000

$000

1,595
447

778
234

1,640
459

660
198

161
114
(3)
(342)

(155)
65
(404)
(5)
170
(72)

(28)
144
102
(3)
(342)

(155)
54
(11)
(4)
170
(72)

(67)
-

3
72

(471)
-

-

310

(92)

(139)

180

961
(651)

(484)
392

526
(665)

(106)
286

310

(92)

(139)

180

The Company is not required to maintain an Imputation Credit Account pursuant to section OB1(2)(d) of the Income Tax Act 2007.
A change in the Company tax rate from 30% to 28% was enacted on 27 May 2010 with effect from 1 July 2011, being the beginning of the 2011 income year.

9. Cash and Short-term Deposits
Cash on hand and at bank
Short-term deposits

870
13,707

857
9,674

563
13,707

595
9,674

14,577

10,531

14,270

10,269

The carrying value of short-term deposits with maturity dates of three months or less approximates their fair value. The weighted average
effective interest rate for term deposits is 3.60% (2011: 3.48%).
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Group
Note

10. Receivables and Prepayments
Trade receivables
Related party debtors
Provision for impairment

Accrued income
Prepayments and other receivables

Parent

2012

2011

2012

2011

$000

$000

$000

$000

12,581
31
(219)
12,393

15,327
(194)
15,133

12,581
31
(219)
12,393

15,327
(194)
15,133

3,289
1,788

3,760
1,511

3,388
1,778

3,760
1,510

17,470

20,404

17,559

20,403

The carrying value of receivables approximates their fair value. The carrying amount of receivables that would otherwise be past due, but
not impaired, whose terms have been renegotiated is $1,871,000 (June 2011 $2,670,000). As at 30 June 2012 and 30 June 2011, all overdue
receivables have been assessed for impairment and appropriate provisions applied, as detailed below:

Group
Gross
Not past due
Past due 1 - 30 days
Past due 31 - 60 days
Past due 61 - 90 days
Past due > 91 days
Total

30 June 2012
Impairment

10,561
600
133
1,212
75
12,581

(70)
(2)
(2)
(70)
(75)
(219)

Net

Gross

10,491
598
131
1,142
12,362

30 June 2011
Impairment

12,513
1,796
782
170
66
15,327

(50)
(78)
(66)
(194)

Net
12,463
1,796
782
92
15,133

Parent
Gross
Not past due
Past due 1 - 30 days
Past due 31 - 60 days
Past due 61 - 90 days
Past due > 91 days
Total

30 June 2012
Impairment

10,561
600
133
1,212
75
12,581

(70)
(2)
(2)
(70)
(75)
(219)

Net

Gross

10,491
598
131
1,142
12,362

30 June 2011
Impairment

12,513
1,796
782
170
66
15,327

(50)
(78)
(66)
(194)

Net
12,463
1,796
782
92
15,133

The provision for impairment has been calculated based on expected losses for the Group’s pool of debtors. Expected losses
have been determined based on an analysis of the Group’s losses in previous periods, and review of specific debtors.

Group

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows:

2012
$000

Parent
2011
$000

2012
$000

2011
$000

Balance at 1 July
Additional provisions made during the year
Receivables written-off during the year

(194)
(25)
-

(157)
(159)
122

(194)
(25)
-

(157)
(159)
122

Balance at end of year

(219)

(194)

(219)

(194)

354
197

211
213

354
196

211
212

551

424

550

423

11. Inventories
Agricultural stock
Other
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Group

12. Accounts Payable and Accruals
Trade payables
Other payables
Revenue in advance

Parent

2012

2011

2012

2011

$000

$000

$000

$000

7,359
2,577
1,925

10,977
1,933
3,756

7,454
2,577
1,925

10,977
2,035
3,756

11,861

16,666

11,956

16,768

Accounts payable and accruals are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms, therefore the carrying value of
accounts payable and accruals approximates their fair value.

13. Employee Entitlements
Annual leave
Service leave
Retirement leave
Other leave and accruals

4,819
839
2,489
2,902

4,577
902
2,375
2,605

4,768
792
2,489
2,902

4,536
876
2,375
2,605

Total employee entitlements

11,049

10,459

10,951

10,392

Comprising:
Current
Non-current

10,154
895

9,724
735

10,103
848

9,683
709

11,049

10,459

10,951

10,392

180
1,285
(908)

30
615
(465)

180
1,285
(908)

30
615
(465)

557

180

557

180

14. Restructuring Provision
Opening balance 1 July
Additional provisions made
Amounts utilised
Closing balance at 30 June

The Group’s Board approved a detailed and formal restructuring plan related to the science operations during the year, resulting in an additional provision.
Provision had been made for the obligations of expected restructuring costs for employee termination benefits and other restructuring costs.
Severance payments of $908,000 were paid to 20 employees during the year (2011 $465,000, 7 employees). The remaining balance is expected to be
utilised during the 2013 financial year.

15. Non-Current Liabilities
Mortgage liability *

275

291

275

291

Less current portion of mortgage liability
Total mortgage

16
259

15
276

16
259

15
276

* Secured by way of a mortgage over property at Kerikeri. Interest rate currently 3.99% (2011: 3.99%). The term is for a period of no greater than 33 years
commencing on 1 January 2000. The current portion of the mortgage is included within current liabilities. The carrying amount of the mortgage liability
approximates its fair value.
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16. Property, Plant and Equipment

Group

Parent

Land

Buildings

Plant and
Equipment

$000

$000

$000

7,653
(263)
(611)
-

50,787
2,622
(320)
(49)
-

82,336
4,909
(323)
49
-

5,086
394
(187)
-

145,862
7,925
(1,093)
(611)
-

7,653
(263)
(611)
-

50,787
2,622
(320)
(49)
-

82,248
4,907
(323)
49
-

5,037
394
(187)
-

145,725
7,923
(1,093)
(611)
-

6,779

53,040

86,971

5,293

152,083

6,779

53,040

86,881

5,244

151,944

Accumulated depreciation
Opening balance 1 July 10
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Foreign exchange movement

-

21,162
1,762
(79)
(1)
-

56,492
6,097
(259)
1
-

3,167
378
(146)
-

80,821
8,237
(484)
-

-

21,162
1,762
(79)
(1)
-

56,409
6,094
(259)
1
-

3,152
373
(146)
-

80,723
8,229
(484)
-

Closing balance 30 June 11

-

22,844

62,331

3,399

88,574

-

22,844

62,245

3,379

88,468

6,779

30,196

24,640

1,894

63,509

6,779

30,196

24,636

1,865

63,476

Land

Buildings

Plant and
Equipment

Motor
Vehicles

Total

Land

Buildings

Plant and
Equipment

Motor
Vehicles

Total

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

6,779
22
(210)
-

53,040
1,099
(272)
69
-

86,971
3,720
(2,649)
(283)
2

5,293
638
(474)
(12)
-

152,083
5,479
(3,395)
(226)
(210)
2

6,779
22
(210)
-

53,040
1,099
(272)
69
-

86,881
3,716
(2,649)
(283)
-

5,244
638
(474)
(12)
-

151,944
5,475
(3,395)
(226)
(210)
-

6,591

53,936

87,761

5,445

153,733

6,591

53,936

87,665

5,396

153,588

Accumulated depreciation
Opening balance 1 July 11
Additions
Disposals
Impairment
Transfers
Foreign exchange movement

-

22,844
1,854
(22)
46
-

62,331
5,671
(2,630)
(44)
-

3,399
401
(396)
(5)
-

88,574
7,926
(3,048)
(3)
-

-

22,844
1,854
(22)
46
-

62,245
5,664
(2,630)
(44)
-

3,379
401
(396)
(5)
-

88,468
7,919
(3,048)
(3)
-

Closing balance 30 June 12

-

24,722

65,328

3,399

93,449

-

24,722

65,235

3,379

93,336

6,591

29,214

22,433

2,046

60,284

6,591

29,214

22,430

2,017

60,252

Cost
Opening balance 1 July 10
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Reclassification to asset held sale
Foreign exchange movement
Closing balance 30 June 11

Net book value

Motor
Vehicles

Total

Land

Buildings

Plant and
Equipment

Motor
Vehicles

Total

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

Group

Cost
Opening balance 1 July 11
Additions
Disposals
Impairment
Transfers
Reclassification to asset held sale
Foreign exchange movement
Closing balance 30 June 12

Net book value

Parent

Some land holdings are restricted assets to the extent that they are potentially subject to Maori land claims. The book value of land potentially subject to
Maori claims is $7,412,000.
There are no restrictions over the title of the remaining Group’s property, plant and equipment, nor is any property, plant or equipment pledged as
security for liabilities except as disclosed in note 15.
The Company holds numerous germplasm collections of horticultural material for research purposes. Due to the nature of the collections their value
can not be measured reliably for financial purposes, however they have a fundamental importance to the Company’s research.
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17. Intangible Assets

Cost
Opening balance 1 July 10
Additions
Disposals

Patents,
Trademarks

Goodwill

Total

Software,
Databases

Patents,
Trademarks

Goodwill

Total

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

4,341
1,393
(273)

467
-

19
-

4,827
1,393
(273)

4,341
1,393
(273)

467
-

-

4,808
1,393
(273)

Closing balance 30 June 11

5,461

467

19

5,947

5,461

467

-

5,928

Accumulated amortisation
Opening balance 1 July 10
Additions
Disposals

2,559
886
(41)

374
93
-

19
-

2,952
979
(41)

2,559
886
(41)

374
93
-

-

2,933
979
(41)

Closing balance 30 June 11

3,404

467

19

3,890

3,404

467

-

3,871

Net book value

2,057

-

-

2,057

2,057

-

-

2,057

Cost
Opening balance 1 July 11
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
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Software,
Databases

Software,
Databases

Patents,
Trademarks

Goodwill

Total

Software,
Databases

Patents,
Trademarks

Goodwill

Total

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

$000

5,461
995
(7)
251

467
-

19
-

5,947
995
(7)
251

5,461
995
(7)
251

467
-

-

5,928
995
(7)
251

Closing balance 30 June 12

6,700

467

19

7,186

6,700

467

-

7,167

Accumulated amortisation
Opening balance 1 July 11
Additions
Disposals
Transfers

3,404
1,306
(7)
28

467
-

19
-

3,890
1,306
(7)
28

3,404
1,306
(7)
28

467
-

-

3,871
1,306
(7)
28

Closing balance 30 June 12

4,731

467

19

5,217

4,731

467

-

5,198

Net book value

1,969

-

-

1,969

1,969

-

-

1,969

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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18. Investments - Subsidiaries

GraceLinc Limited
HortResearch (Australia) Pty Limited
Plant & Food Research (USA) Corporation
Plant & Food Research Australia Pty Limited
Truffle Investment New Zealand Limited
New Zealand Institute for Crop & Food Research International Limited
New Zealand Institute for Crop & Food Research Rosehip Limited

Principal Activity

Balance
Date

Interest
Held %

Non trading
Marketing and consultancy services in Australia
Marketing and consultancy services in the USA
Marketing and consultancy services in Australia
Non trading
Non trading
Non trading

30 June
30 June
30 June
30 June
30 June
30 June
30 June

100
100
100
100
100
100
100

Plant & Food Research Australia Pty Limited and HortResearch (Australia) Pty Limited are incorporated in Australia. Plant & Food Research (USA)
Corporation is incorporated in the USA. All other subsidiaries are incorporated in New Zealand. The accounts of Plant & Food Research Australia Pty
Limited, HortResearch (Australia) Pty Limited and Plant & Food Research (USA) Corporation have not been audited.

19. Investments - Associates
The Group’s share of profit/(loss) in its associated companies for the year was $35,000 (2011: $66,000).

Principal Activity

Interest
Held

Total
Assets

Developing & commercialising IP
Developing & commercialising IP
Developing & commercialising IP
Developing & commercialising IP

50.0%
49.0%
33.3%
25.0%

78
481
1,045
9

3
180
421
-

540
2,942
-

(1)
96
59
-

Developing & commercialising IP
Developing & commercialising IP
Developing & commercialising IP
Developing & commercialising IP
Developing & commercialising IP
Developing & commercialising seed

50.0%
49.0%
33.3%
33.3%
25.0%
11.2%

78
614
974
362
10
642

3
456
411
68
446

778
3,039
177
63

(1)
206
64
(165)
(1,919)

30 June 2012
Jukebox NZ Limited
Forage Innovations Limited
Biopolymer Network Limited
Rhindo International Limited

Total
Liabilities

Revenue

Profit/(Loss)

30 June 2011
Jukebox NZ Limited
Forage Innovations Limited
Biopolymer Network Limited
CropLogic Limited
Rhindo International Limited
HRZ Wheats Pty Limited*
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Group

19. Investments - Associates (Continued)
Jukebox NZ Limited
Forage Innovations Limited
Biopolymer Network Limited
CropLogic Limited*
Rhindo International Limited
HRZ Wheats Pty Limited*
Total associate investments

Parent

2012

2011

2012

2011

$000

$000

$000

$000

40
131
179
2
-

40
108
159
95
2
7

40
10
15
2
-

40
10
15
150
2
63

352

411

67

280

* CropLogic Limited and HRZ Wheats Pty Limited have been reclassified to “Other“ as management do not consider they still have significant influence
as a result of reduced shareholdings. HRZ Wheats shareholding has diluted to 5.6% while the CropLogic shareholding has diluted to 21.1% and will be
further diluted within three months of balance date. Refer note 20(b).

20. Investments - Other
a) Joint Ventures
Rosehip Orchards New Zealand Limited JV (10%)
Less share of Rosehip Orchards New Zealand Limited JV expenses
b) Other
New Zealand Synchrotron Group Limited
CropLogic Limited
Fruitpackers (HB) Co-op Limited
Ravensdown Fertiliser Co-op Limited
HRZ Wheats Pty Limited
Others at cost

Total other investments

-

222
(79)
143

-

222
(86)
136

93
22
14
7
19
155

191
22
11
21
245

150
22
14
63
19
268

191
22
11
21
245

155

388

268

381

Except for Ravensdown Fertiliser Co-op Limited, none of the other investments are traded in an active market, therefore investments are stated at cost rather
than fair value.

21. Deferred Tax Asset/(Liability)

Group

Property, plant
equipment
$000

Investmentsassociates
$000

Derivative financial
instruments
$000

Employee
Other
entitlements provisions
$000
$000

Tax
losses
$000

Total
$000

Balance at 1 July 2010
Charged to statement of comprehensive income
Balance at 30 June 2011

(5,503)
(101)
(5,604)

(37)
(30)
(67)

6
(23)
(17)

2,461
(185)
2,276

180
23
203

76
(76)
-

(2,817)
(392)
(3,209)

Charged to statement of comprehensive income

490

(18)

8

126

45

-

651

(5,114)

(85)

(9)

2,402

248

-

(2,558)

Balance at 1 July 2010
Charged to statement of comprehensive income
Balance at 30 June 2011

(5,503)
(101)
(5,604)

-

6
(23)
(17)

2,461
(185)
2,276

180
23
203

-

(2,856)
(286)
(3,142)

Charged to statement of comprehensive income

490

-

8

126

41

-

665

(5,114)

-

(9)

2,402

244

-

(2,477)

Balance at 30 June 2012

Parent

Balance at 30 June 2012
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Group

Parent

2012

2011

2012

2011

$000

$000

$000

$000

17,436
-

17,436
-

17,436
-

17,436
-

Closing balance at 30 June

17,436

17,436

17,436

17,436

Retained earnings
Opening balance
Operating profit/(loss) after taxation

50,918
1,285

50,048
870

50,055
1,779

49,575
480

Closing balance at 30 June

52,203

50,918

51,834

50,055

Foreign currency translation
Opening balance
Foreign currency translation difference for foreign operations

(55)
3

(43)
(12)

-

-

Closing balance at 30 June

(52)

(55)

-

-

Ordinary shares (000’s)
On issue opening balance
Issued for cash

17,436
-

17,436
-

17,436
-

17,436
-

On issue at closing balance 30 June

17,436

17,436

17,436

17,436

22. Share Capital & Reserves
Share capital
Opening balance
Issue of ordinary shares

All issued shares are fully paid and have no par value.
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.
All shares rank equally with regard to the Company’s residual assets.
Dividends paid to shareholders represented $0 per share in 2012 (2011: $0).

23. Cash Flow Hedge Reserve
Opening balance at 1 July
Transferred to cost of sales
Revaluations

(60)
28

21
(81)

(60)
28

21
(81)

Closing balance at 30 June

(32)

(60)

(32)

(60)
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Group

24. Commitments
The following amounts have been committed to by the Group or Parent,
but are not recognised in the financial statements:
a) Capital commitments
Property, plant and equipment
b) Operating commitments (excluding leases)
c) Operating lease commitments
Lease commitments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

d) Operating lease income
Lease income under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
Not later than one year
Later than one year and not later than five years
Later than five years

Parent

2012

2011

2012

2011

$000

$000

$000

$000

1,939

3,197

1,939

3,197

425

137

425

137

977
1,694
387
3,058

1,069
2,173
1,118
4,360

977
1,694
387
3,058

1,069
2,173
1,118
4,360

248
270
118
636

555
460
159
1,174

248
270
118
636

555
460
159
1,174

The Group leases premises and plant and equipment. Operating leases held over properties give the Group the right to renew the lease subject to a
redetermination of the lease rental by the lessor. There are no renewal options or options to purchase in respect of plant and equipment held under
operating leases.
The Group rents premises. Operating leasees have the rights to renew the lease subject to a redetermination of the lease rental.

25. Reconciliation of Operating Profit/(Loss) After Tax
with Cash Flow from Operating Activities
Operating profit/(loss) after tax
Associated entities (profit)/loss
Add/(less) non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation
Movement in foreign exchange
Non-cash movements in investments
Other non-cash items
Impairment of assets
Decrease/(increase) in future tax benefit
(Decrease)/increase in employee entitlement
Add/(less) items classified as investing activities:
(Gain)/loss on sale of property, plant and equipment
Movements in working capital:
Decrease/(increase) in receivables and prepayments
Decrease/(increase) in inventory
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables and accruals
Increase/(decrease) in restructuring provision
Increase/(decrease) in taxation payable

Net cash flow from operating activities
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1,285
(35)
1,250

870
(66)
804

1,779
1,779

480
480

9,232
10
(38)
191
(651)
590
9,334

9,216
(12)
23
(7)
448
9,668

9,225
(3)
(60)
191
(665)
559
9,247

9,208
(2)
68
287
427
9,988

(433)

(420)

(433)

(420)

2,990
(127)
(4,361)
377
1,033
(88)

725
16
1,958
150
(632)
2,217

2,861
(127)
(4,356)
377
606
(639)

310
16
2,197
150
(636)
2,037

10,063

12,269

9,954

12,085
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26. Related Party Transactions
The Company is a wholly owned entity of the Crown. The government significantly influences the role of the Company in addition to being a major source of revenue.
The Company enters into transactions with government departments, state-owned enterprises and other Crown entities. Those transactions that occur within a
normal customer / supplier relationship on terms and conditions no more or less favourable than those which it is reasonable to expect the Company would have
adopted if dealing with that entity at arm’s length in the same circumstances have not been disclosed as related party transactions.
The Company is the ultimate parent of the Group and controls the following subsidiaries and associates: HortResearch (Australia) Pty Limited, Plant & Food
Research (USA) Corporation, GraceLinc Limited, Truffle Investment New Zealand Limited, Plant & Food Research Australia Pty Limited, New Zealand Institute for
Crop & Food Research International Limited, Jukebox NZ Limited, Biopolymer Network Limited, Rhindo International Limited and Forage Innovations Limited.
All members of the Group are considered to be related parties.

Purchase of services
2012
2011
$000

$000

1,279
-

Subsidiaries
Associates

2011

$000

$000

165
-

201
-

Sale of services
2012
2011

2012

2011

$000

$000

$000

$000

991

Subsidiaries
Associates

1,207
350

Due to
2012

1,808

Due from

219

321

a) Related party transactions other than described above:
All related party transactions have been entered into on an arms length basis.
The company and the Group contracted with parties associated with certain directors during the year. These are as detailed below.
These transactions were all at normal commercial rates.

Group

Parties associated with Directors

Nature of the transaction

Seeka Kiwifruit Industries Limited
Kiwi Innovation Network Ltd
The Bio Commerce Centre Ltd

Services
Services
Rent

Parent

2012

2011

2012

2011

$000

$000

$000

$000

39
1

10
-

39
1

10
-

2,200
2,187
2,200
Post-employment benefits
Key management personnel include the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive and the other members of the senior executive team.

2,187

b) Key management personnel compensation:
Salaries and other short term employee benefits
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27. Financial Instruments
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial instrument risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group has a series of
policies to manage the risks associated with financial instruments and seeks to minimise exposure from financial instruments. These policies do not
allow any transactions that are speculative in nature.
Market risk
Fair value interest rate risk
The Group has a policy of ensuring that the Group’s exposure to changes in interest rates on borrowings is minimised. Interest rate swaps are entered
into to achieve an appropriate level of exposure to meet the Group’s policy. Any movement in the interest rate would impact the profit via the interest cost
of the overdraft and the movement in the fair value of the interest rate swap derivative.
There were no interest rate swaps as at 30 June 2012.
At 30 June 2012 the Group’s exposure to the fair value interest rate risk was limited to its bank deposits which are held at fixed rates of interest.
Cash flow interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the cash flows from a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
Investments at variable interest rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group’s investment policy requires a spread of investment
maturity dates to limit exposure to short-term interest rate movements. The Group currently has no variable interest rate investments.
Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group purchases goods and services overseas which require it to enter into transactions denominated in foreign currencies. The Group also holds small
balances of AUD, EUR and USD at call in order to settle transactions denominated in foreign currencies. As a result of these activities, exposure to
currency risk arises.
It is the Group’s policy to manage foreign currency risks arising from contractual commitments and liabilities by entering into foreign exchange forward
contracts to hedge the foreign currency risk exposure. All of the forward exchange contracts have maturities of less than one year at the balance sheet
date.
Sensitivity analysis
As at 30 June 2012, if the 90 day bank bill rate had been 25 basis points higher or lower, with all other variables held constant, the profit for the year
would have been $29,000 (June 2011: $19,000) higher or lower. This movement is attributable to increased or decreased interest received on short-term
deposits.
As at 30 June 2012, if the currency had weakened or strengthened by 10% against the US dollar, with all other variables held constant, the profit for the
year would have been $51,000 higher or lower. This movement is mainly attributable to foreign exchange gains and losses on translation of US dollardenominated trade receivables and payables.
As at 30 June 2012, if the currency had weakened or strengthened by 10% against the AU dollar, with all other variables held constant, the profit for the
year would have been $1,000 higher or lower. This movement is mainly attributable to foreign exchange gains and losses on translation of AU dollardenominated trade receivables and payables.
As at 30 June 2012, if the currency had weakened or strengthened by 10%, with all other variables held constant, the cash flow hedge movement through
equity would have been $265,000 higher if the currency had strengthened or $324,000 lower if it had weakened.
Other market risk
The Group is not exposed substantial to other market price risk rising from financial instruments.
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligations to the Group, causing the Group to incur a loss.
Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, the Group invests surplus cash with registered banks. The Group’s investment policy limits the
amount of credit exposure to any one institution.
The Group’s maximum credit exposure for each class of financial instrument is represented by the total carrying amount of cash and short-term
deposits (note 9), net debtors (note 10) and derivative financial assets. There is no collateral held as security against these financial instruments,
including those instruments that are overdue or impaired.
Management has a credit policy in place under which each new customer is individually analysed for credit worthiness and assigned a credit limit before
the standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. Where available the Group reviews external ratings and references are obtained.
Credit limits are reviewed on a regular basis.
Net receivables includes one customer who represents 34% of the total trade receivables at balance date. The Group is not exposed to any other
concentrations of credit risk as surplus cash is only invested with registered banks with specified Standard and Poor’s credit ratings.
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27. Financial Instruments (continued)
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they fall due. Prudent liquidity risk
management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to
close out market positions. The Group aims to maintain flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available. It is the Group’s policy to provide
credit and liquidity enhancement only to wholly owned subsidiaries.
The table below analyses the Group’s derivative financial instruments and other financial liabilities that will be settled on a gross basis into relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.

Contractual
cash flow

Group 2012
Up to
12 months

9,936

9,936

9,936

-

-

9,936

9,936

9,936

-

-

44
75

3,996
2,695

3,996
2,695

-

-

Carrying
amount
Trade and other payables

Forward exchange contracts
Inflow
Outflow

1-2 years

3 years

Group 2011
Trade and other payables

Forward exchange contracts
Inflow
Outflow

12,910

12,910

12,910

-

-

12,910

12,910

12,910

-

-

57
117

4,934
4,307

4,934
4,307

-

-

Parent 2012
Trade and other payables

Forward exchange contracts
Inflow
Outflow

10,031

10,031

10,031

-

-

10,031

10,031

10,031

-

-

44
75

3,996
2,695

3,996
2,695

-

-

Parent 2011
Trade and other payables

Forward exchange contracts
Inflow
Outflow

13,012

13,012

13,012

-

-

13,012

13,012

13,012

-

-

57
117

4,934
4,307

4,934
4,307

-

-
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27. Financial Instruments (continued)
Effective 1 July 2009, the Group adopted the amendment to NZ IFRS7 for financial instruments that are measured in the Balance Sheet at fair value,
which requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level based on the following fair value measurement hierarchy:
- Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1)
- Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices) (Level 2)
- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) (Level 3)

Group and Parent

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total

$000’s

$000’s

$000’s

$000’s

30 June 2012
Assets
Derivative financial instruments- fair value hedges
Total assets

-

44
44

-

44
44

Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments- fair value hedges
Total liabilities

-

75
75

-

75
75

Assets
Derivative financial instruments- fair value hedges
Total assets

-

57
57

-

57
57

Liabilities
Derivative financial instruments- fair value hedges
Total liabilities

-

117
117

-

117
117

30 June 2011

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the reporting date. A market is regarded as active if
quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the
group is the current bid price.
These instruments are included in Level 1.
The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity
specific estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in Level 2.
If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in Level 3.
Specific valuation techniques used to value financial instruments include:
- Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments.
- The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future cash flows based on observable yield curves.
- The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts is determined using forward exchange rates at balance date, with the resulting value discounted
back to present value.
- Other techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, are used to determine fair value for other financial instruments.
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28. Categories of Financial Assets and Liabilities
The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the NZ IAS 39 categories are as follows:

Group

Parent

2012

2011

2012

2011

Note

$000

$000

$000

$000

(9)
(10)

14,577
15,682
30,259

10,531
18,893
29,424

14,270
15,781
30,051

10,269
18,893
29,162

(20)

155

388

268

381

30,414

29,812

30,319

29,543

8,659
275

12,910
291

8,754
275

13,012
291

8,934

13,201

9,029

13,303

Loans and receivables
Cash and short-term deposits
Trade and other receivables
Total loans and receivables
Available for sale
Investments - other
Total financial assets
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Accounts payable and accruals
Current loans and borrowings
Mortgage liability

(12)
(15)

Total financial liabilities

29. Capital Management
The Company’s capital is its equity, which comprises share capital and accumulated funds. Equity is represented by net assets.
The Company is subject to the financial management and accountability provisions of the Crown Research Institutes Act 1992, which imposes
restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of securities, issuing guarantees and indemnities and the use of derivatives.
The Company manages its equity as a by-product of prudently managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities and general financial dealings to ensure
the Company effectively achieves its objectives and purpose, whilst remaining a going concern.
The Group’s and Parent’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s and Parent’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. The Group
and Parent recognises the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position.

30. Contingencies
Contingent Liabilities
There were no contingent liabilities known to exist at balance date (June 2011 $0).
Contingent Assets
There were no contingent assets known to exist at balance date (June 2011 $0).

31. Other Significant Items			
On 9 June 2009, our subsidiary Truffle Investments NZ Limited, was notified by a customer of a claim alleging negligence. Our insurers, along with
representatives from in-house legal, are engaged to attempt to clarify the issues involved. The claimants are currently seeking to initiate arbitration or
mediation proceedings.
The discovery of the vine killing bacteria Psa in New Zealand kiwifruit orchards was a significant event for the kiwifruit industry. There remains the
potential for a material impact on future earnings Plant & Food Research derives from the kiwifruit industry.
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2012
Actual
Research Collaboration
Peer reviewed publications
Book chapters
Technology and knowledge transfer
Licensing deals of CRI-derived IP
Licences
Client reports
Technologies, products and services
Plant variety rights
Granted in NZ
Granted overseas
Patents
Granted in NZ
Granted overseas
Trademarks
Registered
Requests for information from databases and collections
Science quality
International awards
Invitations for international committees
Invitations for editorial boards
Average number of citations per CRI published paper
Proportion published papers in top 25 international journals
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315
22

8
397
85
11
17
3
5
4
47

11
16
20
6.9
18%

STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY
for the year ended 30 June 2012

In the financial year ended 30 June 2012, the Board and management of The New Zealand Institute for Plant & Food Research Limited were responsible for:
→ the preparation of the financial statements and the judgements used therein.
→ establishing and maintaining a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of financial and
non-financial performance reporting.
In the opinion of the Board and management of The New Zealand Institute for Plant & Food Research Limited, these financial statements fairly reflect
the financial position and operations of The New Zealand Institute for Plant & Food Research Limited for the year ended 30 June 2012.

Michael Ahie, Chairman
23 August 2012

Jim Scotland, Director
23 August 2012
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Michael Ahie (Chairman)

ALISON STEWART (Deputy Chair)

MARK BAYLY

Jane hunter

Michael Ahie is a business owner and
company director based in Wellington.
He is a founding partner of business
coaching company Shirlaws New
Zealand Ltd, and a director of the
Manawatu Bio Commerce Centre
Ltd (a business incubation company),
Manawatu Investment Group Ltd (an
angel investment fund), Clearwater Ltd
(a privately owned consulting company)
and Farmers Mutual Group (a rural
insurance company).
Mr Ahie received a First Class Honours
degree from Massey University and has
completed the Executive Development
Programme at The Wharton School,
University of Pennsylvania. He brings
to Plant & Food Research broad
international business and governance
experience with multinational
companies in sales, marketing, global
strategy and business management.
His past roles include senior roles
with Toyota New Zealand Ltd, the New
Zealand Dairy Board and Wrightson Ltd.

Professor Alison Stewart is a former
Director of the Bio-Protection Research
Centre and immediate past Chair of
aCoRE, the Association of Centres of
Research Excellence. She is actively
involved in developing and promoting
the field of plant pathology and has a
particular interest in the control of plant
pathogenic fungi using antagonistic
micro-organisms. Her research group
has successfully commercialised three
Trichoderma-based biocontrol products
for the control of fruit and vegetable
diseases.
Prof. Stewart was the recipient of
the 2008 MAF Biosecurity Award for
Excellence and in 2009 became a
Companion of the New Zealand Order
of Merit (CNZM) in recognition of her
services to biology, in particular, to the
area of plant pathology.

Dr Mark Bayly has a background
in international marketing and
management consultancy, with a strong
interest in, and emphasis on, innovation.
He holds a PhD from the National
University of Ireland, UCD, Masters
Degrees in both commercial law and
business, as well as a Bachelors Degree
in science.
Dr Bayly has been a board member of
several companies.

Jane Hunter co-founded the highly
successful Marlborough based Hunters
Wines with her late husband Ernie
Hunter in 1979. For her service to
the wine industry since, Ms Hunter
has been awarded an OBE in 1993
and received an Honorary Doctorate
of Science from Massey University in
1997. Ms Hunter was also appointed a
Companion of the New Zealand Order of
Merit for services to viticulture in 2008,
and in February 2009 was named a
winner at the annual KEA / New Zealand
Trade & Enterprise, World Class New
Zealand Awards – awards that recognise
New Zealanders making an outstanding
contribution to New Zealand’s economic
development.
(Resigned 1 May 2012)

TODD MULLER

STANA PEZIC

Jim Scotland

Mark Stuart

Todd Muller is the Managing Director,
Co-operative Affairs for the Fonterra
Co-operative Group. Mr Muller’s
career has been strongly agribusiness
focused with eight years senior
management experience for ZESPRI
International Limited with accountability
for shareholder services, corporate
relations and innovation.
More recently Mr Muller was the Chief
Executive of Apata Limited, a large
kiwifruit and avocado post harvest
facility based in the Bay of Plenty. He
is also a member of the Council of
the University of Waikato, where he
graduated with M.Soc.Sc in 1992, and
has had previous governance roles
within the kiwifruit sector.

Stana Pezic is currently the Chief
Financial Officer of Stevensons Group
following her role as CFO at Metrowater,
the Auckland City Council’s water
retailer and infrastructure manager.
Ms Pezic was previously General
Manager at Whitcoulls Group Ltd, and
has extensive experience in financial
management, general management,
strategy development and process
change.
Her background spans infrastructure,
manufacturing and retail, following
various roles with Carter Holt Harvey,
Whitcoulls Group, The Warehouse and
Esso Australia.

Jim Scotland is a Hawke’s Bay-based
business consultant, and former
Deputy Chair of state-owned enterprise
AgriQuality Ltd and Director of Landcorp
Farming Ltd.
Among his current governance roles
are Chair of Port of Napier Ltd, Director
of Seeka Kiwifruit Industries Ltd and
Director of Hawkes Bay Airport Ltd.

Mark Stuart has broad general
management and governance expertise
combining entrepreneurial and public
sector experience and a strong focus on
innovation.
Mr Stuart has a background in building
technology-based businesses including
having led the founding teams of
ZyGEM, Ectus and OBodies. Mr Stuart
was previously the Chief Executive of
WaikatoLink, the technology transfer
company of the University of Waikato.
As CEO of WaikatoLink, Mr Stuart
was involved in the development and
commercialisation of technologies
based on intellectual property developed
by the University of Waikato.
Mr Stuart has extensive governance
experience including having been a
Director of ZyGEM Corporation Limited,
Graftoss Limited, Novatein Limited,
Obodies Limited, Nouvoa Limited,
Solenza Limited, RuralLink and
Chairperson of Khipu Systems Limited.
He is also a Council member on the
New Zealand Angel Association and a
member of the NZBio Advisory Council.
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In October 2011, the US Department of Agriculture
held a consignment of New Zealand avocados
suspected to be contaminated with the fungal
pathogen that causes avocado scab. This decision
was reversed within five days, based on data
and diagnostic tests provided by Plant & Food
Research and the consignment was released onto
the US market.

By using novel methods of extraction and
formulation, collagen from hoki can be electrospun
into nanofibres on starch-based discs. These discs
are manufactured by Revolution Fibres Ltd and sold
as the SETA filter, used in HRV Ltd’s home ventilation
systems. Sales of the SETA air filter are growing at
30% each quarter and the nanofibre technology has
been critical to the development of the company.

Since ENZA International Ltd, the largest
exporter of New Zealand apples, introduced
DMC as a quality standard in 2010, no apple
shipments have failed fruit specifications
in export markets. In the 2011 season, every
carton of ‘Royal Gala’ exported by ENZA
achieved the £21 premium in the UK market,
rather than the £17 wholesale price.

More than 100 tonnes of ‘Nelson Sauvin’ hops
are now produced each year, a five-fold
increase in just five years, and generating
$2 million at the farm gate. Newer releases
‘Kohatu’ and ‘Wai-iti’ are projected to double
New Zealand specialty hop production by 2016
and attract premium prices in excess of $20/kg
in the global marketplace.

Cultivars from the cereal grains
breeding programme hold about
45% of the New Zealand market and
generate $56 million from seed sales
and harvested grains. In 2011, 100,000
tonnes of milling wheat was harvested
from Plant & Food Research cultivars,
reducing the cost of importing wheat
from Australia by $62 million.

www.plantandfood.co.nz/growingfutures

Follow Plant & Food Research online:

www.plantandfood.co.nz/growingfutures

